Work from Home: From pandemic necessity to the concept of multi-locational work – an empirical study of employees' experiences for the future of distributed workplace environments

Andreas Pfnür, Kyra Voll, Martin Christian Höcker and Yassien Bachtal



Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 50, July 2023

Recommended citation:

Andreas Pfnür, Kyra Voll, Martin Christian Höcker and Yassien Bachtal (2023): Work from Home: From pandemic necessity to the concept of multi-locational work – an empirical study of employees' experiences for the future of distributed workplace environments. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 50, Technical University Darmstadt.

Authors:

Prof Dr Andreas Pfnür, Head of the Department of Real Estate Management and Construction Management at the Technical University of Darmstadt and founder of the Research Centre for Real Estate Management. pfnuer@bwl.tu-darmstadt.de

Kyra Voll, M. Sc., Research assistant and doctoral candidate at the Department of Real Estate Management and Construction Management at the Technical University of Darmstadt. voll@bwl.tu-darmstadt.de

Martin Christian Höcker, M. Sc., Research assistant and doctoral candidate at the Department of Real Estate Management and Construction Management at the Technical University of Darmstadt. hoecker@bwl.tu-darmstadt.de

Yassien Bachtal, M. Sc., Research assistant and doctoral candidate at the Department of Real Estate Management and Construction Management at the Technical University of Darmstadt. bachtal@bwl.tu-darmstadt.de

Other participants involved:

Christian Holthaus, Founder and managing director at Coventury GmbH.

christian.holthaus@coventury.de

The following study was supported by:





The work reflects the views of the authors.



Imprint (V.i.S.d.P)

Prof Dr Andreas Pfnür Fachgebiet Immobilienwirtschaft und Baubetriebswirtschaftslehre Fachbereich Rechts- und Wirtschaftswissenschaften Technische Universität Darmstadt Hochschulstr. 1 64289 Darmstadt +49 (0) 6151/16 - 24510 Telephone Telefax +49 (0) 6151/16 - 24519 E-Mail office-bwl9@bwl.tu-darmstadt.de Homepage www.real-estate-research.org ISSN-Nr. 1862-2291 July 2023

Management summary

The world of work is undergoing a serious transformation process. One of the main changes is the transformation of the physical organisation of work. Whilst work had to be done primarily from home due to the COVID-19 pandemic in the past years, knowledge workers are increasingly free to choose the place where they perform their work. The return of employees to company offices, the simultaneous continued use of work from home and the experimentation with third places of work are giving rise to a new concept of the physical organisation of work: multi-locality.

Based on a survey of 1,136 German knowledge workers, this study examines the status quo of work from home, working in the office as well as a third-place location and analyses how employees' work success is generated in the different places. In addition, change management processes are examined. This helps identify the necessary conditions that must be created in order to successfully complete the transition from one-dimensional work in the office or at home to a multi-local working world. Based on a discussion of the empirical results on the potentials and challenges of the transformation of the world of work, implications are derived for the necessity of state regulation for employees, companies and real estate industry stakeholders.

The results illustrate the gigantic scale of the changes that multi-local work is causing in the world of work and other areas of social life, such as transport and the environment, or in relation to social welfare. For employees, the freedom of mobile working has become indispensable. The study shows how each employee adapts individually to multi-local work and makes the best possible use of the work from home concept, offices and third places. In addition to the great social value, another key finding is that the new concept of multi-local working also has great economic potential, which, however, has not yet been fully realised. Employers experience great benefits through the correct use of multi-local work. On the one hand, they benefit from higher work success and the improved health of their employees and from the positive effect on their attractiveness as an employer. It is corporate real estate management's duty to make use of these potentials. Companies are currently confronted with the challenges of a softening corporate culture, complicated communication between employees and management as well as the constant need to balance individual success and team success. This is why companies require an individual strategy for shaping the new concept of distributed workplaces. In this context, investments in work from home equipment, improved information cultures and further training opportunities help make mobile working successful. Finally, there will be a change in the demand for company real estate in the future. A pros and cons list to support decision-making can help indicate how companies can react to the dynamic world of work with their real estate. The decisions involve considerations regarding quantitative space adaptation as well as possible approaches to the qualitative improvement of offices and the use of third locations as a supplement to the office strategy.

In conclusion, the results show that changing the office space requirements of companies requires adjustments to the business models and strategies in the real estate industry.

However, the office of the future cannot yet be clearly outlined, especially with a view to the working world of tomorrow.

Keywords: Work from home, Office, Coworking Space, Workation, Multi-locality, Transformation

Table of contents

Manag	ement summaryI				
Table o	of figuresIV				
List of	List of tablesVII				
List of	abbreviationsVIII				
1	Introduction				
1.1	Research problem				
1.2	Objectives and structure of the empirical study				
2	Literature review				
2.1	Workplace development and definitions				
2.2	State-of-the-art work from home studies				
3	Methodology				
3.1	Study design and research approach				
3.2	Data sample				
3.3	Remarks on the evaluation concept				
4	Results				
4.1	Work from home and office workplace				
4.1.1	Status quo of work from home				
4.1.2	Status quo of working in the office				
4.2	Work location choice and success at the different work locations				
4.2.1	Respondents' choice of work location				
4.2.2	Work success at the different places of work				
4.3	Change management				
4.4	Work at third work places				
4.4.1	Coworking spaces				
4.4.2	Workation				
5	Conclusion and practical implications				
5.1	Multi-locality of the working world - the development of a concept for a better spatial integration of life and work				
5.2	Implications of multi-local work for employees and employee representation 97				
5.3	Lessons learned for employers and corporate real estate management 105				
5.4	Lessons learned for real estate stakeholders				
5.5	Lessons learned for others 121				
5.6	Uncertainty about the working world of tomorrow 122				
Bibliog	raphy				

Table of figures

Figure 1: Focus of each study	
Figure 2: Scientific approach in the course of time	
Figure 3: Data preparation process	
Figure 4: Personal characteristics of the respondents	
Figure 5: Geographical distribution of respondents	
Figure 6: Household-related characteristics of the respondents	
Figure 7: Work-related characteristics of the respondents	
Figure 8: Distribution of work activities	
Figure 9: Summary of response values into top/bottom 3-box values	
Figure 10: Work from home experience before the COVID-19 pandemic	
Figure 11: Respondents' home workplace	
Figure 12: Furnishing and technical equipment in the home office	
Figure 13: Regulation and satisfaction regarding the issue of working from home	e 33
Figure 14: Work from home regulation by company size and sector	
Figure 15: Satisfaction with work from home arrangements by company size	
Figure 16: Work equipment provided for work from home	
Figure 17: Cost coverage for work from home	
Figure 18: Home office setup	
Figure 19: Quality of work at home	
Figure 20: Isolation at work from home	
Figure 21: Reasons for continued work from home	
Figure 22: Respondents' office form and office concept	
Figure 23: Reasons for returning to the office	
Figure 24: Desired distribution of activities depending on place of work	
Figure 25: Weekdays spent at the office	45
Figure 26: The team's influence on the choice of work location	45
Figure 27: Desire and reality of work location distribution in 2020 (Pfnür et al., 2023	
Figure 28: Actual and desired distribution of work locations by generation	
Figure 29: Desired work location depending on location of residence	
Figure 30: Current and desired work location distribution according to length o	
Figure 31: Desired work location distribution according to relevance of team dyn	amics 51
Figure 32: Influence of in- and output-related aspects on the choice of work loca	tion 52
Figure 33: Satisfaction with work locations	53

Figure 34: Satisfaction by work location and age	54
Figure 35: Satisfaction by place of work and residential location	54
Figure 36: Satisfaction with work from home and in the office depending on commute	e 55
Figure 37: Satisfaction in the office by office form and office concept	56
Figure 38: Factors influencing satisfaction at the places of work	57
Figure 39: Influencing conditions on satisfaction at workplaces according to age	58
Figure 40: Productivity by place of work	58
Figure 41: Productivity by place of work and age	59
Figure 42: Productivity by work location and hierarchical level	60
Figure 43: Productivity by place of work and place of residence	61
Figure 44: Work success and personality traits	62
Figure 45: Work success and agile work	63
Figure 46: Correlation of productivity and satisfaction by place of work	64
Figure 47: Burnout and boreout at work	65
Figure 48: Correlation between work from home, office hours, burnout and boreout	65
Figure 49: Correlation of work success of different work locations with burnout and be	
Figure 50: Relationship between burnout, boreout and agile work	66
Figure 51: Existence of working time regulations	67
Figure 52: Existence of working time regulation by company size and sector	68
Figure 53: Method of recording working time	69
Figure 54: Influence of employees in change processes for mobile working	70
Figure 55: Influence of employees on change processes for mobile working by hierar level and company size	
Figure 56: Expectations regarding involvement in change processes	72
Figure 57: Levels of decision-making in change management	72
Figure 58: Relevance of mobile working	73
Figure 59: Countervalue to the possibility of working flexibly in terms of location and	
Figure 60: Employees' accommodation for mobile work	75
Figure 61: Increased intention to quit due to lack of opportunity for mobile working	75
Figure 62: Need for training and technical support in mobile working	76
Figure 63: Experience at third places of work by generation	77
Figure 64: Willingness to use alternative work places	78
Figure 65: Financial burdens from work places are undesirable	78
Figure 66: Distribution of working time in third places	79
Figure 67: Sustainability perspectives on coworking spaces	80

31
32
33
34
85
86
37
88
39
39
90

List of tables

Table 1: Study o	overview on the topic of	work from home since	the first study in 2021 15
Table 2: Subject	areas within the questi	onnaire	

List of abbreviations

BDSG	Bundesdatenschutzgesetz
DSGVO	Datenschutzgrundverordnung
cf.	confer
Eds.	Editors
e.g.	example given
esp.	especially
et al.	et alii
etc.	et cetera
Gen	generation
Hrsg.	Herausgeber
i.e.	id est
n	number of observations

1 Introduction

1.1 Research problem

For some time now, the economy and society have been undergoing a transformation process. The megatrends of growing environmental awareness, digitalisation, globalisation, (re)urbanisation, sociodemographic change and increasing state and geostrategic intervention are forcing companies to adapt quickly to changing environmental conditions. This transformation also includes, to a particular extent, the real estate resources of companies (Pfnür and Wagner, 2018; Pfnür, 2019), the housing supply of private households (Pfnür et al., 2023; Pfnür et al., 2023; Pfnür et al., 2023) and the added value system of the real estate industry (Pfnür, 2019; Pfnür, 2020). As a result, the space requirements of companies and private households are changing at a rapid pace. Pfnür 2019 shows that within ten years, companies will have adapted 60% of their operational real estate to changing conditions through market transactions and project developments. The price developments on the housing markets in recent years also indicate a very dynamic demand.

This was the phase during which the COVID-19 outbreak happened in 2019. Social and societal structures changed drastically, and around 80% of office work took place from home. In their study, "Homeoffice im Interessenkonflikt" [Home-office in Conflict of Interest], Pfnür et al. (2021), among others, show how strongly the change in the physical organisation of work influences work success. Furthermore, it is shown how strongly the synergy between those factors has been perceived socially since then. On average, there is a clear increase in work success. Job satisfaction and productivity have increased measurably. For example, employees stated that they had increased their work productivity by an average of 13% through work from home. On average, work–life integration is functioning noticeably better in society. However, the results also show that in addition to about 60% winners in society, there were also about 40% losers due to work from home. The debate in society over the last three years has been very much characterised by the discussion about winners, losers and a 'new normal' of the working world through work from home.

Now, after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, many questions arise as to what the working world of the future will look like. If one follows the public debate, then it is striking that there are clearly still more answers than questions. Answers are often contradictory and follow gut feelings rather than causal connections derived from data. It is obvious that decisionmakers as well as journalists are very much influenced by their own personal, individual experiences in their perception of the situation and the assessments that follow from it. This is quite natural. Every office worker, from apprentice to CEO of a Dax corporation or from simple party member to federal minister, has had his or her own experiences with work from home and has reflected on these in his or her daily exchanges with the world around him or her. Yet, what is missing and slowly becoming necessary after three years of experience with work from home, is a systematic, data-based and unbiased analysis of the current state of the physical organisation of knowledge work, and the advantages and disadvantages of different configurations of people, work tasks and work locations. Nonetheless, it is obvious that one of the greatest changes in knowledge-related working environments has taken place through the work from home, which is also colloquially referred to as the "home office".

In the last few years of the transformation of the world of work, it has become increasingly apparent that the office is not only a place for carrying out knowledge work. In other words, employees have been given alternatives through work from home. In recent years, work from so-called "third places" (e.g. Gauger, 2021) has increased as well. Third places describe any place outside the office (second place in the sociological typology according to Florida) or the home (first place according to Florida). Studies such as Gauger et al. (2022) show that third places of work can have considerable influence on work success, depending on the situation and individual.

Since the pandemic, a special form of third work place, the so-called "workation" (Voll et al., 2022), has assumed great importance. Depending on the specific arrangement, third places of work such as hotels or cruise ships or (holiday/weekend) homes—almost in the sense of a first place—can count as workations.

Overall, it can be said that work from home along with third place and workation concepts offer new, very effective instruments for the transformation of companies and private households in the real estate economy. Their use shifts the boundaries between life and work remarkably. The future task for all stakeholders involved will be to realise the benefits and gains of multi-local work whilst minimising the disadvantages and losses. This study aims to make an initial contribution by creating transparency in this process. In particular, the following study will be about creating an information baseline for solving the following practical problems:

• **Transformation of working worlds:** How can the pandemic emergency solution of work from home become a new work concept in companies? What role do alternative workplaces and third places play in this? How will the efficient allocation of people, work tasks and work locations be handled in the future? How can the change management process succeed? How should companies and employees interact during this process? Should there be standardised regulations or individual agreements?

• Individual work success and health: How can mobile work contribute to increasing work productivity, job satisfaction and occupational health among knowledge workers? How can the risk of employee burnout and boreout be reduced?

• **Regulation:** Mobile work has hardly been regulated legally so far. What does an effective legal framework that creates solutions for a fair balance of interests between the collective bargaining parties as well as work-health and work-safety look like? The results of this study will be incorporated into the policy workshop, "Mobile Work - Safe and Healthy", which is currently discussing a possible legal framework at the Federal Ministry of Labour (BMAS).

• Effects on the office portfolios of users, investors and financiers: How will demand for office space change in terms of quantity, quality and location? What are the consequences for price and value developments on the real estate markets and the portfolio strategies of investors and financial backers?

1.2 Objectives and structure of the empirical study

The world of work, in a phase of expansive transformations, is increasingly characterised by new working models, so-called "New Ways of Working" (Blok et al., 2011; Nijp et al., 2016). While research and practice have been primarily concerned with work in offices over the past decades, the focus is increasingly expanding across alternative workplaces. Recently, following the COVID-19 pandemic with repeated lockdown phases, the topic of work from home has become a central social concern and frequently discussed topic in Germany.

Through mobile work, i.e. location- and time-flexible work en route or from a location other than the company office, the distribution of work locations is becoming more diverse and the complexity of the organisation for companies is increasing. Currently, there is no standardised and binding legal framework for mobile work and it can be offered voluntarily by companies. However, within the framework of a policy workshop process of the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs (BMAS), experts are currently developing proposals for structures and conditions for time- and location-flexible working over a period of one year (BMAS, 2023).

Reporting on work from home reached a temporary peak during the COVID-19 pandemic. During this time, the first home office study was created by the TU Darmstadt research team led by Prof Dr Andreas Pfnür: Homeoffice im Interessenkonflikt (Pfnür et al., 2021). The study pursues the goal of analysing the framework conditions of home office in the special and, for many employees, new situation. As a result, conflict lines and threatening distribution struggles in the decisions of companies and the public sector as well as recommendations for action for a sustainable success of work from home are shown. Figure 1 shows a comparison of the focal points of the first and second studies.



Figure 1: Focus of each study

With the findings and limitations of the first study in mind, the second study focuses on three main points. This study contributes to examining the status quo of work from home as the pandemic situation subsides in order to provide an information and decision-making basis for answering the most important questions on future office development. The aim is to measure the success of work from home and to present a picture of the future multi-local working world.

The first focus of the second study is on the question of how physical, organisational and personal conditions of work influence work success. In contrast to the first study, this time, the clarification and examination of the correlations will take place outside the pandemic peak phase. The basic design of the study is the implicit and explicit comparison of the different workplaces—the office, at home and in third locations—based on their characteristics and effects on success. This approach has the goal of improving the ability to plan for a future of work in distributed workplaces as conclusions can be drawn about general success factors of workplace development for knowledge workers.

Examining change processes in the context of distributed workplaces is the second focus of the study. The first study, conducted in 2021, made it clear that without an active change process, the risks of work from home threaten to get out of hand while change management and thought structures had not yet caught up during the pandemic. For this reason, this second study focuses on change processes involving all stakeholders. In doing so, it goes into detail about the necessary preconditions that need to be created in order to complete the transition from one-dimensional work in the office to a multi-local working world successfully. Thereby, the worst consequence of unsuccessful change processes, the loss of employee potential, can be avoided. The report also addresses the question of whether the change to the 'new normal' is already in full swing as well as how employees want to be involved in change and what willingness they show to accept change. It also examines the level at which decisions on distributed working should be made and what support services are useful for employees in distributed working.

The third focus is on the role of alternative places of work such as coworking spaces. In the study from 2021, the importance of third places of work was already addressed and the experiences and wishes of employees in relation to these were highlighted. What was striking here was the fundamentally low level of experience with these forms of work. Nevertheless, responses among the users were positive. This study will once again analyse the level of experience that employees have with alternative places of work. The goal is to become aware of real estate's economic potential of these working forms, which, according to scientific literature, offers flexibility and opportunities for more efficient organisational solutions. Special attention will also be paid to the relatively new trend of combining work and leave (workation). In view of the increasing competition for young talent on the labour market ('war for talent'), workation could possibly become an attractive working model. In addition, the real estate industry, which initially has the task of providing workplaces in the form of offices, must deal with the new stakeholders entering this market, such as the hotel industry, which offer facilities for workations. The study provides initial empirical results on employees who have already gained experience with this work model and their workation.

The report is divided into five chapters. After discussing the problem and presenting the objectives of the study in Chapter 1, a literature review follows in Chapter 2. Following the explanation of the methodological procedure and the presentation of the sample in Chapter 3, the results of the study are presented in Chapter 4. The fifth and last chapter summarises the most important results of the study and provides first-derived implications for the necessities of state regulation, for employees, for companies and for real estate industry actors.

The study has been generated at the public institution of the Technical University of Darmstadt and is, as far as possible, free of individual interests. The underlying empirical survey is primarily intended for further scientific utilisation. The scientists involved initiated and designed this study. It is not contract research. The work is predominantly financed by public funds. The companies Art-Invest Real Estate and the Zentrale Immobilien Ausschuss ZIA are represented as sponsors and expert sounding boards.

2 Literature review

2.1 Workplace development and definitions

The physical organisation of work is subject to constant change. It is influenced by various factors, such as the continuous development of IT and telecommunication technologies, demographic change resulting in a shrinking workforce, or exogenous shocks, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which quickly turned the home into the place of work for many Germans. As a result of these and other aspects of working life, flexible forms of work are becoming increasingly important.

Since industrialisation, so-called 'knowledge workers' usually go to work in an employer's office, the so-called 'second place'. For decades, work organisation processes and the management of the organisation of work have focused on this type of workplace. In this study, the term "office" is used to refer to the employer's premises, but no statement is made about ownership (rent/ownership). It is only a question of the space provided at one or more fixed locations, which is made available to employees for working.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, this trend changed abruptly. Suddenly, as in the times before industrialisation, life and work took place in private premises, the so-called 'first place', even for employees with knowledge-intensive activities. As the pandemic situation continues and begins to subside, it can be observed in Germany that the interest in work from home seems to be maintained. In the following, the expression "work from home" is used synonymously with "working from home" where the home office is the main place of residence.

Another trend that has been emerging for some time is a general flexibilization of the place of work. So-called 'third places' represent an alternative to the office workplace for some office workers through decentralised, institutionalised workplaces. Common examples of flexible workspaces are coworking spaces, business centres or satellite offices. In scientific discourse, the classification already goes beyond third places. Fourth places, such as hybrid multi-local work and augmented reality in the digital workspace, as well as fifth places like work at holiday locations ("workation") are mentioned. "Workation" describes location-flexible work in which the domains of work and leisure/holiday merge.

In simple terms, this report, based on the definition of different functional spaces in the 1990s, uses the term "third places" as a general term for the following (work) places in public life: lounges, trains, aeroplanes, catering establishments (e.g. cafés), corporate coworking spaces such as satellite offices, public coworking spaces and workation.

In Chapter 4.2, a special focus is placed on the work success of employees in different workplaces. Work success can generally be described as the interplay between employee attitudes and work outcomes (Yalabik et al., 2013). This report investigates satisfaction, burnout (stress), boreout (boredom) and productivity.

The many changes and innovations in the world of work require companies to manage them carefully in order to support their employees in the best possible way. Change management is an ongoing process concerned with adjusting an organisation's direction, structure and capabilities to meet the ever-changing needs of external and internal customers (Moran/Brightman, 2001; By, 2005). In essence, change management is concerned with the strategic orientation of the organisational unit in order to remain competitive in the future and to successfully guide employees through the changes.

2.2 State-of-the-art work from home studies

The matter of work from home can be viewed from several different perspectives. In addition to employees and decision-makers in the company, consulting firms, works councils, institutions and research facilities as well as health insurances also analyse the topic. Table 1 provides an overview of the most important German language studies on home office, as work from home is often referred, that have been published since the first study. The table also contains selected studies on hybrid work distribution from the years 2021–2023.

Editors / Com- missioners / Authors	Study Design	Title/Focus/ Key topics	Key Findings
PWC (Rauch et al., 2021)	Renewed survey with the aim of comparing the first and second year of COVID- 19	Home remains office: focus on space require- ments and qual- ity of space in terms of econ- omy, sustainabil- ity and wellbe- ing	 Increasing desire for home office Productivity better than expected and employees are satisfied at home Companies plan implementation of new concepts Reducing office area can be economical
Deloitte (Wolfsberger et al., 2022)	Flexible Working Study 2022	Work in transi- tion: hybrid work, workation and the office of the future	 The biggest change in the world of work in recent decades; Home office is here to stay Crucial factor in labour market competition; Flexible working is now a prerequisite for many talented people The other side of the coin; Team spirit and communication suffer in a permanent virtual setting Key role of leadership; Managers in the focus of change Workation as a trend; Remote working from abroad increasingly popular

Table 1: Study overview on the topic of work from home since the first study in 2021

			[]
JLL (Pradère et al., 2022)	Survey of 5,300 office workers from 15 coun- tries	Analyses of how workers use of- fice space in a hybrid context and how they or- ganise their time between differ- ent workplaces	 The office of the future has a broader purpose than suspected Even if employees can choose between different work locations, they have difficulties in dividing their weekly activities between the office and their home The post-pandemic office must accommodate the need for targeted individual work Hybrid workers are not adequately supported in their new working style today
JLL (JLL, 2022)	Survey of 1,100 CRE decision- makers in 13 countries	What users in Germany expect from the office of the future af- ter COVID 19	 German decision-makers are encouraging measures in the multitude of CRE priorities (1st place: sustainability) Hybrid working models have become established and will continue to shape the world of work in the future High-quality office space will continue to be crucial in the future Although ESG is a key corporate goal, investments in Germany are not accelerating as quickly as in the global competition German CRE managers strive to expand efficiency and performance gains through external partnerships Decision-makers plan to accelerate their investments in smart CRE technologies
Capgemini (Capgemini, 2022)	Survey of 2,250 respondents from 750 organi- sations	Focus on em- ployees as a company's most important asset	 Companies need to take more care of their employees Benefits of positive employee experience confirmed Currently under a third of respondents satisfied at work, but 80% of leaders think they have satisfied employees 10-point plan for organisational leadership (e.g. coaching for leaders; cultural change and building a continuous learning environment)
EY (Taapken, 2021)	Online survey based on a fully structured ques- tionnaire with 1,000 interviews	Working world of the future	 Most professionals are currently satisfied with their own workplace Home office arrangements have long since ceased to be a corona-bound transitional solution Companies should adapt to changing needs: Digitalisation and mobile working are part of a modern working world
Accenture (Smith, 2022)	Survey of 9,326 employees in 11 countries	Examining the future of work and its depend- ence on workers and manage- ment	 Companies are under pressure due to external influences such as the war for talent Pressure on employees increases Companies use this situation to drive forward decisions on working models and ignore the dissatisfaction of many employees Companies promise some degree of flexible working, but many of their employees are not equipped with the technology, tools and empowerment they need to be healthy, happy and productive at work There is a need to rethink traditional working models

		r	<u>ر</u>
Institut für Ar- beitsmarkt und Berufsforschung (IAB) und ZEW Mitfinanziert durch das Bun- desministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (BMAS) (Grunau et al., 2021)	Part of the pro- ject "Quality of Work and Eco- nomic Success", based on data from the Linked Personnel Panel (LPP)	Mobile work from home	 Heterogeneous distribution of home office use among employees Advantages of working from home: better work–life balance, greater flexibility for employees and greater subjective job satisfaction Companies and employees report an increase in productivity The following speak against working from home: lack of suitability of the activities, technical change management obstacles and the supervisor's wish to be present
Institut für Ar- beitsmarkt und Berufsforschung (IAB) (Frodermann et al., 2021)	Survey "Living and Working in Times of Co- rona" and the Corona Supple- mentary Survey of the Linked Personnel Panel (LPP)	Home office in times of COVID- 19: use, obsta- cles and future wishes	 81% of employees subject to social insurance contributions have the option of working from home Large majority of home office users are satisfied with the current scope of work Technical obstacles could be removed to a limited extent in the short term; however, the culture of presence, or the lack of separation between work and private life, as well as difficult cooperation with colleagues were quickly improved Two-thirds have a fixed workplace at home while one-third spend most of their time working at a dining table or kitchen table. Flexibilization remains a wish for the future, in contrast to the return to in-person operation
ZEW – Leibniz- Zentrum für Eu- ropäische Wirt- schaftsforschung (Erdsiek, 2021)	Business survey based on ZEW Business Survey Information Economy (Infor- mation Economy and Manufactur- ing)	Home office af- ter COVID 19: expected use continues to rise	 Some of the companies have adjusted their own expectations regarding home office use upwards after the pandemic Larger companies additionally equipped further parts of their workforce with mobile, digital end devices
Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissen- schaftliches Institut (WSI) (Ahlers et al., 2021)	Data from the la- bour force sur- vey conducted on behalf of the Hans Böckler Foundation in four waves using computer-as- sisted online in- terviews (CAWI) (7,677 labour force members)	Home office: what can be learned from the pandemic for the future design of home offices	 Positive home office experience if: 1. companies that already have experience with home office and have regulations in place in advance to provide mobile equipment and remote access to internal networks and data- bases 2. prevention of the dissolution of working hours by company regulations on home office 3. tolerable workloads at the workplace at home 4. there is a suitable living situation for the home office
Ifo Institut Mün- chen und Im- mowelt (Dolls/Lay, 2023)	Population-rep- resentative sur- vey of 12,000 people in Ger- many	Effects of home office and strain of rising housing costs on the choice of resi- dence	 Employees with a home office share are 10% more likely to have made basic changes of residence since the outbreak of the pandemic After the outbreak of the pandemic, inhabitants of large cities have predominantly moved to the suburbs of large cities or to smaller cities No evidence of rural exodus due to corona pandemic Increased housing costs are increasingly perceived as a financial burden

	1	Г	
Fraunhofer-Insti- tut für Arbeits- wirtschaft und Organisation IAO (Bockstahler et al., 2022)	Study carried out as part of the Office 21® joint research project (follow- ing on from the 2020 study); survey of 1,700 people in private companies and public organisa- tions from Ger- many and abroad	Home office Ex- perience 2.0 - Changes, devel- opments and ex- periences of working from the home office during the co- rona pandemic	 Exchange with colleagues as motivation to return to the office Perceived productivity when working from home continues to increase Home office strengthens work–life balance Ergonomics and technical equipment influence willingness to return to the office Employees' willingness to return to the office is independent of age Good connections and good food are the biggest incentives to return to the office
Fraunhofer-Insti- tut für Arbeits- wirtschaft und Organisation IAO In Kooperation mit DGFP (Hofmann et al., 2022)	Survey on the hybrid working world based on 215 datasets	Working in the Corona Pan- demic: shaping the "new nor- mal" on the key topics of produc- tivity, breaking down bounda- ries, working time flexibility and leadership	 Mobile work and shared workplaces are the concepts of the future Time flexibility in decentralised coordination as a megatrend The pandemic is a booster for self-organisation as well as new management and performance measurement concepts Technology is not everything - but without technology everything is nothing And what about other equipment for workplaces beyond the office? More and more employers are taking the lead with pragmatic subsidy models Employer attractiveness and productivity are the key drivers of hybrid forms of work Company partnership in shaping the hybrid world of work is essential and culture-shaping How do we avoid a 'two-class society' in companies? Not every advantage can and must therefore be compensated one-to-one
Institut der deut- schen Wirtschaft (IW) (Flüter-Hoff- mann/Stettes, 2022)	Systematic liter- ature review of the experiences of employees and companies with analysis based on the BIBB/BauA em- ployment survey	Looking back on home office after two years of having the pan- demic; retro- spective and out- look on the spread and structure of the spatial and tem- poral flexibiliza- tion of work in Germany	 Working from home will become more common as justified by positive experiences Contrast between employees' wishes and home office plans of some companies due to different interpretations and de- ductions of experiences Constructive balancing process between operational necessi- ties and individual concerns must not get out of balance in a contractual relationship

	1	1	
Bitkom Research Im Auftrag des Digitalverbandes Bitkom (Berg, 2022)	Representative telephone survey of 1,502 em- ployed persons aged 16 and over	New Work - the new working world after the pandemic: Per- ceptions and ex- periences of working from home and the future perspec- tive	 COVID-19 brings image boost for digitalisation and drives cultural change towards New Work: Mobile working should become the standard Nine out of ten see their future of work in the home office and two-thirds are allowed to work at home; already half of the respondents work more from out and about than in the office Six out of ten jobs are suitable for the home office and those who are not allowed, but could, would also like to work on the move The desire for flexibility is also growing in jobs where the employee's presence is required Reasons for not working at home: Internet problems, in-office culture and lack of social contacts are the biggest disadvantages Two-thirds are equipped with notebooks Half have clear rules for mobile working Productivity highest in the office and at home Less stress, more time and better work–life balance at home
Bayerisches For- schungsinstitut für Digitale Transformation (bidt) (Stürz et al., 2021)	Analyses based on primary data from eight cross- sectional surveys using Google Surveys, March/June 2020 and Febru- ary/May 2021	Digitalisation through COVID- 19?	 Further increase in home office use Clear desire for a home office after COVID-19 Home office offer important when changing jobs Almost one-quarter of home office users do not work at a fixed workplace at home High satisfaction with home office, partly dependent on workplace situation
Bertelsmann Stiftung in Zu- sammenarbeit mit Ipsos (Fein- stein et al., 2021)	Survey of 1,000 employees	Home office and corporate cul- ture - Changing perceptions of the home office after one year of the pandemic	 Good adaptation of employees to the conditions of mobile working Flexibility brings many advantages There is a risk of hairline cracks in the corporate culture; There is a danger that companies overlook the need for action in the design because of the positive assessment of the 'new normal'
Institut für Mit- bestimmung und Unternehmens- führung (I.M.U.) (Wirth, 2022)	Explorative study based on guided inter- views with work- ers' councils from five compa- nies in four in- dustries	Home office workers alone at home; study on workers' coun- cils' practice on home office work	 For a long time, the reason for the low number of home offices was management's interest in direct control of the workforce The pandemic needed the government-imposed learning process of management that employees are also productive in the home office Works councils play an important role in the spread of home office work and interest representation is in a collective learning process Home office work contributes to the erosion of occupational safety and health standards Central challenge: widespread collapse of classic communication channels of workers' councils; however, handling is constructive and innovative

Weizenbaum- Institut für die vernetzte Gesell- schaft – Das Deutsche Inter- net-Institut Gefördert durch das Bundesmi- nisterium für Bil- dung und For- schung (BMBF) (Krzywdzinski, 2022)	Survey of 1,516 employees	Team Collabora- tion and Produc- tivity: Experi- ences of Agile, Hybrid and Tra- ditional Home Office Teams during the COVID-19 Pan- demic	 More than 50% of the respondents have worked longer than the regular working hours in the home office in some cases (shifting work even to late nights or the weekend) About 25% complain about the lack of rules for working in a home office Working in a home office poses challenges for teams, e.g. de- crease in social contacts and informal encounters/communica- tion flows due to virtual communication, requiring new com- munication patterns Agile teams slightly increase teamwork and productivity in the home office; the opposite is true for more traditional teams
Internationale Hochschule (IU) (Internationale Hochschule, 2022)	Survey of 1,030 people from Ger- many	The new nor- mal? Home of- fice check: per- ceptions after two years of pandemic and expectations for the future	 Home office is popular among respondents with previous experience and newcomers Self-determination is more important to the majority than social aspects, whereby the advantages mentioned also include social aspects - but in the private leisure sector Disconnecting and switching off is hardly a problem and working at home is no more exhausting or stressful than working in an office Because of COVID-19, home office remains a must-have and flexible working models are desirable
Universität Kon- stanz (Kunze/Zimmer- mann, 2022)	Long-term study with 699 partici- pants, continu- ously supported by the DFG Clus- ter of Excellence "The Politics of Inequality" (EXC, 2035)	The transfor- mation to a hy- brid working world; Effects of working in a home office	 Mobile working becomes a matter of course (central factor for employer attractiveness) Home office opportunities: increased commitment and higher productivity Home office risks: exhaustion, loneliness and reduced inno- vative capacity and identification Central task for managers and organisations: Finding the mix ('hybrid') of presence work and mobile work for the indi- vidual work context and tasks (individual vs collective tasks) Systematic development of a corporate and leadership cul- ture towards more trust and flexibility including continuous evaluations recommended
Universität Kas- sel (Ber- zel/Schroeder, 2021)	Systematic over- view and per- spectives for de- sign, funded by the Hessian Min- istry for Social Affairs and Inte- gration	Home office - a transformation of the working world	 Strategy of good work in a hybrid work culture should be fixed by concrete fair agreements of conditions and needs Importance of gathering more experience on the reasons for untapped home office potential in order to remove obstacles on the way to fair and good home office solutions Co-determination as part of the path to better home office experience: positive effects such as job satisfaction and productivity are promoted if regulations on occupational health and safety, time recording, data and insurance protection, tax deductibility and company co-determination are considered Hybrid work culture needs 'spaces' to enable social inclusion New work can also be understood as part of a sustainable reorganisation of economy, society and work

	1	Г	
Bergische Uni- versität Wupper- tal, Institut für Unternehmens- forschung und Organisations- psychologie (WIFOP) (Wieland/Groe- newald, 2021)	Book chapters	Designing work in the home of- fice as a hybrid work location model	 Home office work is only as good as office work Majority of home office studies are based on subjective judgements of respondents Design framework: Man-Technology-Organisation (MTO) approach Presentation of a socio-technical system approach for holistic consideration: Business-Office-Home-Office model (BO-HO model)
Universität Bielefeld; Beuth Hochschule für Technik, Berlin und Wissen- schaftliches Institut der AOK (WidO) (Backfisch et al., 2021)	Analyses in the context of the Absenteeism Re- port 2021 of re- spondents who switched to a coworking space after a certain time in the home office	Workplaces of the future - health-promot- ing design of coworking spaces and home offices	 Reasons why respondents switched to coworking space after time in home office: Disengagement, lower work output, dis- traction, isolation and expectations, structures, focus and community at and in coworking spaces Health promotion should be supplemented by a social level
DAK-Studie – Update (DAK-Gesund- heit, 2021)	Survey of 7,040 participants with the purpose of obtaining a panel of 4,814 respondents (2019–2021) for longitudinal analyses	Digitalisation and home office in the corona crisis	 Home office is becoming more and more established Digital forms of work continue to grow Home office advantages outweigh the disadvantages: Work–life balance, work productivity, time savings and flexibility Disadvantages of working from home are the lack of contact with colleagues and superiors
Deutscher Gew- erkschaftsbund (DGB, 2021)	Special evalua- tion of the ques- tion of 'flexible working' with 6,297 employees in a survey by the DGB Good Work Index 2020	Home office in the public sector (during normal operation and not during COVID-19)	 Home office does not automatically lead to good working conditions Home office can put additional strain on employees What is needed is a good interplay between individual rights to organise and reliable collective regulations
Deutscher Gew- erkschaftsbund (DGB, 2022)	Special evalua- tion of a random sample of 6,407 employees on the focus of dis- solution of boundaries and recreation in digital and mo- bile work from a survey by the DGB Good Work Index 2021	Work of the fu- ture in the 'new normal'?	 New challenges of work design in location-flexible work: flexibility of work desired, but often followed by performance at atypical times, overtime and accessibility beyond regular working hours Health hazards due to shortened recovery and rest periods Proven standards of occupational health and safety must also apply to the 'new normal'; legal regulatory framework for mobile working can help here

3 Methodology

For a better classification of the study, the study concept and procedure are presented, and the sample is described before the results are displayed. Particular attention is paid to representativeness. In addition, the evaluation concept and the methods of analysis are shown.

3.1 Study design and research approach

The present study is connected to the findings of Pfnür et al. (2021) with the aim of verifying and expanding the knowledge level on work from home and on multi-locality of work in general. The process of the two studies is visualised in Figure 2.





The present study was conducted in the period from December 2022 to March 2023. In a first step, scientific literature, market reports and discussion papers were collected. With the help of a systematic literature analysis, relevant information was then synthesised by structuring and consolidating thematic areas. The results of the literature analysis were used to develop propositions about the presumed relationships. These were discussed with a panel of experts in order to combine the theoretical findings from the literature with practice-related topics and to create the questionnaire on this basis. The questionnaire consisted of a total of six sub-areas, which are presented in Table 2.

Table 2: Subject areas within the questionnaire

Ι	Sociodemographic data		
II	Details regarding current employment		
III	Status quo and work success in work from home		
IV	Status quo and work success in the office		
V	Status quo and work success at third workplaces (esp. coworking spaces and worka-		
	tion)		
VI	Information on change management		

The questions are predominantly answered on a seven-point Likert scale ("strongly disagree" to "strongly agree"). This is due to the higher sensitivity, reliability and validity of a seven-

point Likert scale compared to a five-point Likert scale (Cummins/Gullone, 2000; Preston/Colman, 2000).

This is an empirical study. The survey was explicitly directed at office workers in Germany. The online survey was conducted with SoSci Survey, a German-speaking provider that guarantees data protection-compliant online surveys according to DSGVO and BDSG (SoSciSurvey, 2022). Conventury GmbH was involved in the implementation of the study and the preparation of the dataset. The sample was generated via the online platform Clickworker.de. Clickworker.de is a crowd-based community, which, according to its own information has about 400,000 German-speaking clickworkers. In addition to integrated control questions, quality is ensured in the best possible way by eliminating bots and automated response behaviour. This community's advantage is the high availability of suitable survey participants. They pre-qualified for the study by registering and becoming eligible with Clickworker.de. Clickworker.de has already proven its worth in other market studies and scientific research in recent years (Pfnür et al., 2021; Gottschewski et al., 2022; Pfnür et al., 2022). After completion of the survey, the participants received an incentive. It was initially 5.00 euros per participant and was later increased to 6.00 euros. After several pretests, the survey ran for 25 days from 27.01.2023 to 20.02.2023. The insights gained were discussed in expert rounds with the project participants and representatives of corporate practice.

3.2 Data sample

The sample includes office workers who live and work in Germany. The initial gross sample contains n = 1,170 observations. To begin with, comprehensive data preparation was carried out (cf. Figure 3) in order to guarantee the quality of the observations and, thus, the quality of the following analyses. The IBM SPSS software was used to prepare and analyse the dataset.



Figure 3: Data preparation process

While creating the questionnaire, two attention checks were integrated, which were evaluated and checked in the dataset of the gross sample. If both attention checks failed, then the observation was removed from the dataset. The next step was a check for inconsistent response behaviour, which was essentially based on the socio-demographic information of the respondents. Respondents who were under 18 and over 70 were removed. Other variables included in the data preparation process were the number of people per household or the number of children, for example. In total, 34 observations were eliminated.

The net sample comprises n = 1,136 observations. Further down, this sample is described by personal, household-related and work-related characteristics. An overview of the personal characteristics is provided in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Personal characteristics of the respondents

The sample consists of 54.5% male and 45.1% female respondents while 0.4% of the respondents indicated "other". On average, respondents are 37-years-old with a standard deviation of 11 years. The youngest respondent is 18-years-old and the oldest is 68-years-old. For easier classification, a breakdown of the age-frequency distribution by generation is provided below in this report. The report refers exclusively to respondents of certain age groups and not to common imprints. Fourteen percent of the respondents are 18–26-years-old (Generation Z); 54% are between 26- and 40-years-old (Generation Y); 24% are between 41- and 55-years-old (Generation X); and 8% are older than 55 years (Generation Baby Boomer). The results indicate that the sample is somewhat academic because 28% of the respondents have a Master's degree, Magister or Diploma while 21% indicate a Bachelor's degree as their highest current level of education and 2% have a doctorate or habilitation.

The proportion of office workers in Germany (regarding the whole population) has risen continuously in recent years. It is estimated that 36.7% of all employed people now work in an office (Hammermann and Voigtländer, 2020). The respondents in the sample are younger compared to the general population. Around 10% of all employed people in the population belong to Generation Z, 31% to Generation Y, 34% to Generation X and 25% to the baby boomer generation (Destatis, 2022a). Although the information on the highest level of education indicates a rather academic sample, it is quite representative for the population of German office workers.

Furthermore, 62% of the respondents state that they are married or in a committed relationship. In contrast, 33% of respondents classify themselves as single. The geographical distribution of respondents in Germany is illustrated in Figure 5.





This study surveyed office workers throughout Germany. There are some geographical concentrations in Berlin (6.3% of respondents), Munich (3.2% of respondents), Leipzig (2.3% of respondents) and the Hannover region (2.2% of respondents). Slight differences in the regional distribution between the basic population and the sample can hardly be prevented. Despite that, a roughly representative picture of the respondents' places of residence for the basic population becomes apparent. In addition to personal characteristics, participants in the survey were also asked to provide some household-related information (cf. Figure 6). The average household size is 2.5 persons with a standard deviation of 1.2. While about one in five respondents lives alone (23%), 35% of respondents say they live in a two-person household, 20% live in a three-person household, 17% in a four-person household and 5% live in a household with 5 or more people. In addition, 66% of respondents say they have no children.





The median net household income is between 3,001 and 4,000 euros. Around 19% of the respondents have a monthly net household income of 2,001–3,000 euros. Seventeen percent of the respondents earn 3,001–4,000 euros, 15% earn 4,001–5,000 euros and 13% earn 5,001–6,000 euros per household per month.

The average household in Germany consists of two people, which is slightly lower than in this sample. In Germany, there are around 42% one-person households, 33% two-person households, 12% three-person households and 13% four-person or more households (Destatis, 2021). Accordingly, fewer one-person households are represented in the present sample, with three- and four-person households above the national average. According to the Federal Statistical Office, the average monthly net household income is 3,813 euros (Destatis, 2023). The median of the sample is between 3,001 and 4,000 euros, and is thereby positioned in the national average. The work-related characteristics of the respondents conclude the presentation of the sample (cf. Figure 7).



Figure 7: Work-related characteristics of the respondents

The average work experience is 12 years with a standard deviation of 10 years. Around 36% of respondents have 1–5 years of professional experience. This means they are at the beginning of their professional career. In contrast, 16% of respondents can look back on more than 20 years of professional experience. It is also evident that the respondents work in a

wide variety of sectors: 32% of the respondents work in the service sector (finance/insurance, management consulting, IT services, telecommunications, etc.), 28% in the public sector (health care, education, energy supply, social services, public services/administration, etc.), 18% in industry (electrical industry, mechanical engineering, automotive, etc.), 13% in further sectors such as logistics, transport, pharmaceuticals or trade and 9% in other sectors. Out of the 1,136 respondents, 234 respondents—around 21%—state that they have management responsibility for employees. More than every second person with management responsibility manages 1–5 people. Fifty-eight percent of the respondents state that they are employees in their company while 13% are entrepreneurs or freelancers and 14% work in management. Figure 8 shows the percentage of different activities in the average weekly working time of the survey participants.

The employment status of the sample is very similar to that of the population of employees (Hammermann and Voigtländer, 2020). The respondents in the sample have an average workload of 35 hours per week. The median is 40 hours per week, which indicates that more full-time employees were surveyed. The Federal Statistical Office gives an average weekly working time of 34.7 hours for all employed persons (Destatis, 2022b).



Figure 8: Distribution of work activities

On average, respondents spend about 35% of their time on concentrated individual work. This includes tasks that require a high level of concentration and are best done undisturbed, quietly and alone in order to focus. An additional 26% of their time is consumed by desk work, i.e. individual work that requires a medium level of concentration, but where a slight distraction by colleagues is not problematic (e.g. [video] telephone calls, writing or reading

e-mails). A share of 36% of the average working time per week is spent on dialogues, teamwork, meetings and social exchange.

3.3 Remarks on the evaluation concept

In this study, the collected data are analysed using descriptive, univariate and bivariate evaluation methods. In the graphical presentation of the results, the answer options of a sevenpoint Likert scale (1 = "Not at all true"; 4 = "Neutral"; 7 = "Completely true") are summarised into top and bottom 3-box values (see Figure 9).



Figure 9: Summary of response values into top/bottom 3-box values

Top 3-box values stand for a clear agreement with a certain statement while bottom 3-box values stand for a clear rejection of the statement (Morgan and Rego, 2006). In addition to frequency distribution, positional measures such as the arithmetic mean (average), the median or the modal value and dispersion measures such as standard deviation are also used. In order to capture perceptions and self-assessments of respondents, sometimes several items are merged into one construct. The reliability and validity of the construct is measured with the help of Cronbach's alpha. Subgroup analyses and correlations are used to make differences in the individual characteristic values recognisable. Subgroup analyses make it possible to consider differences between different characteristic values in the analyses. A Pearson correlation shows an undirected linear relationship between the examined variables, a so-called 'bivariate relationship'. Positive correlations mean that a high level of one variable is associated with a high level of another variable and vice versa. Significances of the correlations are marked with * at a significance level of 5% and with ** at a 1% level.

4 Results

The results of the study are divided into four parts. At the beginning, the work situation is examined in more detail by reviewing the status quo of work from home and office. Then, the employees' choice of work location is analysed and the work success at the different work locations is considered. The following chapter is dedicated to change management processes before the results are concluded with a look at work in third workplaces, especially coworking spaces and workation.

4.1 Work from home and office workplace

In the following, the current work environments in the home office and at the office are outlined.

4.1.1 Status quo of work from home

Office workers were asked to indicate whether and to what extent they had work from home experience prior to the COVID-19 pandemic: 46% of respondents report having such work from home experience. Figure 10 shows the percentage of working time already performed from home before the pandemic.





Respondents with experience in work from home were particularly likely to have worked at home for between one and five days prior to the pandemic. On average, respondents spent 29% of their time working from home. The proportion of work from home is surprisingly high compared to the study results of other surveys. The study design is obviously noticeable here. It can be assumed that in surveys conducted by or in connection with employers, the respondents may not be telling the truth. For reasons of labour law, or for organisational reasons, they may not want to reveal the full extent of their work from home in such surveys.

Most respondents have a separate study at home

The description of the home office reveals two main circumstances regarding the spatial work situation of the respondents in work from home (cf. Figure 11).



Figure 11: Respondents' home workplace

Fifty-one percent of employees report having a separate room at home where their workplace is located while 45% work in a dedicated area in the living room, bedroom or dining room.

The proportion of respondents who work in a separate room has slightly decreased, whereas the proportion who use a dedicated area in living rooms, bedrooms or dining rooms has slightly increased compared to the results of the study conducted in 2021.

One in three without a proper workplace at home

In addition to the basic classification of their home office, respondents were also asked about their equipment for working from home. Figure 12 gives an overview of the equipment status.





Every second respondent states that they have a fully equipped home office in terms of furniture. At the same time, every third person states that they do not have a fully equipped workplace compared to the office. Currently, and not least because of the dangers to occupational health, a reorganisation of the legal regulations for mobile work is being discussed.

The internet connection at the home office is perceived as not fast enough by 16% and as not reliable by 15%. In addition, one in four respondents lacks full information and communication technology equipment. Only 40% of respondents say they are fully equipped with information and communication technology at home for work.

Work from home still not regulated in a standardised way

The respondents also answered questions on the institutionalisation of work from home in their company. Initially, they were asked to state whether there is a regulation on working from home in their company (cf. Figure 13).



Figure 13: Regulation and satisfaction regarding the issue of working from home

Forty-five percent of employees state that there is an individual agreement between them and their employer about working from home in their company. The same proportion of respondents state that a company agreement regulates work from home in their company. Around 23% of respondents state that neither an individual nor a company agreement on work from home exists. Furthermore, two out of three respondents are satisfied with the existing arrangement.




The formation of subgroups according to company size shows that the larger the company, the more often there is a company agreement regarding work from home (cf. Figure 15). While the proportion of respondents from micro-enterprises with a company agreement on work from home is 17%, six out of ten respondents from large companies have such an arrangement. The sector with the highest approval rating for the existence of a company agreement is the industrial sector (61%).





Employees in micro-enterprises are the most satisfied with the regulations currently in place: three out of four respondents from micro-enterprises agree with this statement. In the other company size categories, about two out of three respondents say they are satisfied with their work from home arrangements (see Figure 15).

Mixed views on the provision of work equipment and the assumption of costs for work from home

Another aspect of the status quo on work from home—in addition to the regulations on working from home—is the equipment provided by the employer for the home workplace (Figure 16).



Figure 16: Work equipment provided for work from home

Forty-one percent of respondents say that their employer provided them with the necessary work equipment to work from home. But also, forty-one percent say that they did not provide them with equipment. The highest level of agreement on the provision by companies concerns mobile devices. For example, 61% of respondents have been provided with a laptop to work from home. One in three has been provided with input devices such as a mouse and keyboard. An external monitor provided by the employer was used by 27% of respondents.

Four out of ten respondents have to cover the costs of work from home themselves

Thirty-eight percent of respondents say that their companies do not cover the costs of their home office. The most common cost to be covered by the employer is the cost of mobile devices (48%). Sixty-two percent of employees demand that the employer should pay a share of the ancillary costs of employees at home. Assuming the reduction of office space, 40% of respondents see the need for the employer to pay a share of their rental costs for workspace provision. The same number of respondents disagrees with this demand (Figure 17).



Figure 17: Cost coverage for work from home

Home office setup mostly independent

In addition to the question of assuming the associated costs, it should also be examined to what extent companies ensure that the employees' workplaces at home meet ergonomic standards and are adequately equipped (Figure 18).



Figure 18: Home office setup

Thirty-four percent of respondents have been instructed by their employer about the necessary requirements for an ergonomic workplace design in their home. Half of the respondents have not received such instruction. For 26% of the employees, the employer recommended the use of a checklist for their own assessment of the working conditions in their home while six out of ten respondents disagree with this statement.

Work from home employees work more in terms of time and quantity

After the questions on the institutionalisation of work from home in the companies, study participants were asked about their quality of work at home (cf. Figure 19).



Figure 19: Quality of work at home

More than half of the respondents rate the amount of time (65%) and quantity (53%) of their work as higher when working from home compared to when they work in the office. Sixty-two percent of respondents rate the quality of their work at home as better while 50% feel more motivated when working from home and just as many find the blend of work and private life through work at home pleasant. Forty-seven percent of respondents say they are less easily distracted by other people at home while 49% of respondents say that they work more often when working from home and even if they do not feel well health-wise.

One in four respondents also feels isolated at work from home (Figure 20). The more important team dynamics are perceived to be in the company the higher the level of agreement.



2. At my workplace at home, I feel isolated.

3. At my workplace at home, I lack opportunities to socialise during and after work.

The Cronbach's alpha is 0.839.

Figure 20: Isolation at work from home

In the 2021 study, it was already revealed that individuals value personal contact as well as social relations at the workplace, but that neighbourly cohesion as a substitute for social support at the office workplace is weak and can therefore only poorly replace communication with work colleagues at the office.

Work–life balance is the most important reason for wanting to stick with work from home

The analysis of the status quo of work from home is concluded by looking at the reasons for stopping work from home instead of returning to the office (cf. Figure 21).



Figure 21: Reasons for continued work from home

Work–life balance is cited as the most important aspect for increased work at home. Seventytwo percent of respondents agree with this reason for preferring work from home over the office. Climate protection aspects (less office space utilisation or CO_2 savings), the fact that a suitable workplace has been set up at home and emotional stress on the way to work are reasons for 41–47% of respondents to want to continue working from home. For only 18%, a lack of workplaces in the office (indicated by the booking system) is a reason for not going back to the office. For seven out of ten respondents, however, this is not an obstacle.

4.1.2 Status quo of working in the office

Now that the current conditions of work from home in Germany have been presented, the focus below is on the current situation of what work in the office is like. This information of great value. Additionally, it can be used as reference when comparing work situations in different places. It can be assumed that the assessment of work from home depends on how the workplace in the company's office is designed.

Group office with a fixed workstation is the most common type of office

The study participants assessed a range of statements regarding workplace circumstances at their office. Figure 22 shows the existing office forms and concepts.





The most common type of office is the shared office for 2–3 employees. Thirty-nine percent of respondents state that they work in one of these. Twenty-two percent of respondents use a single office and about six out of ten respondents work in cellular offices. Thirty percent have a workstation in an open-plan office or multi-space while 69% have a fixed workstation and 23% use desk sharing concepts. Eight percent of participants have other office concepts in their company.

Diverse incentives for returning to the office

Next, respondents were asked about their motivation for returning to the office. They were asked to indicate from a list of given reasons whether these were an incentive for them to go back in to the office more. Figure 23 shows an overview of possible incentives for returning to the office.



Figure 23: Reasons for returning to the office

More than half of the employees state that communication with colleagues is simpler in the office and is, therefore, a reason to go back. At 55%, this is the reason that receives the highest approval. Every second person says they want to go to the office to save on heating costs. Technology that is easier to use in the office or good food motivate around one-third of all respondents to work more in the office again. Childcare services are also a reason for three out of ten respondents to return to the office. Twenty-four percent of respondents say they would like to use shared space to work across company boundaries (space sharing, such as coworking spaces) if they could. Just as many respondents see additional services such as meal delivery services or on-site sports facilities as a reason to work in the office more often.

Teamwork and social exchange are the most popular activities during office visits

After examining the incentives for going to the company office, respondents were asked to indicate which activities they would like to do in the office and which they would rather do at home (Figure 24).



Figure 24: Desired distribution of activities depending on place of work

The vast majority of respondents (78%) say they would rather go to their home office for concentrated individual work. More than half also want to do desk work from home. By contrast, most respondents want to do communicative and collaborative activities that require interaction with others, such as meetings (50% in favour of the office), spontaneous exchanges in small discussion groups (59%), teamwork (66%) and social exchanges (69%) at the office.

No peak time: Weekdays for office visits almost equally popular

Now the reasons for returning to the office and the activities to be performed there are known. The preferred days of the week for working at the company location are highlighted below. For this purpose, respondents were asked to indicate how likely they were to visit the office on each day of the week. Figure 25 shows the average probability of visiting the office on the different days of the week.





According to the respondents, all days of the week are approximately equally popular for an office visit. On Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Thursdays, the average respondent is 50% likely to work in the office. Employees are almost as likely to work in the office on Mondays (45%) while Friday is the day with the lowest probability of being in the office (36%).

The team's influence on the choice of work location

The decision to go to the office to work could be significantly influenced by the expectations of superiors and colleagues. Therefore, respondents were asked to indicate to what extent their choice of work location is influenced by their team (Figure 26).



Figure 26: The team's influence on the choice of work location

Thirty-eight percent of respondents state that they are influenced by the opinion of their superiors when choosing a place of work while 42% deny being influenced by the opinion of their superiors. There was less agreement on being influenced by the behaviour of colleagues at work. One in three respondents say that they were influenced by their colleagues when choosing their place of work while 45% of respondents say they were not.

4.2 Work location choice and success at the different work locations

After having presented the status quo of work from home and in the office in Chapter 4.1, the next part of the study will examine how the respondents distribute themselves among the different work locations and what work success is achieved.

4.2.1 Respondents' choice of work location

Due to the possibility of performing their work flexibly through digital technologies, knowledge workers have their home and third places of work (for a definition see Chapter 2.1) available to them in addition to the company office. Before being able to examine how successful knowledge work is at the various locations, the proportion of office workers in Germany who are currently active at the various work locations and the extent to which this current situation differs from the respondents' wishes regarding the distribution of work locations must be investigated.

Desire and reality of work location distribution diverge

First, the survey participants were asked to indicate how much of their weekly working time they currently spend at the different places of work and how they would like to distribute their working time between the places in the future. The results are shown in Figure 27.



Figure 27: Desire and reality of work location distribution in 2020 (Pfnür et al., 2021) and 2023

According to the study, German knowledge workers currently spend an average of 51% of their time in the company office and around two days per week working from home. Third places of work have only played a minor role so far. In the future, respondents would like to work from home on three out of five days on average. The desire to work from home even increased by 5% compared to 2020 at the expense of time spent in the company office. Thus, German knowledge workers currently spend more time in the office than they wanted to in 2020 and intend to in the future. For better classification of the results, subgroup analyses examine the extent to which differences exist with regard to the actual and desired distribution of work locations according to various characteristics of the respondents.

Differences in the distribution of places of work in an intergenerational comparison

For this purpose, the current distribution of working time among the different work locations as well as the desired distribution of working time among the work locations for the future are set in relation to the age of the respondents. This, in turn, is classified by generation.





In terms of the proportion of the total weekly working time currently spent in the office, Figure 28 shows that there is a decreasing trend with increasing age. While members of Generation Z spend 57% of their time in the office, employees belonging to the baby boomer generation only spend about 44% of their time in the office. The same trend is visible when observing the desired proportion of time spent in the office (Generation Z: 35%; Generation Baby Boomer: 29%). With regard to the actual and desired share of work from home time, there is an opposite trend: the older the respondents, the higher the actual and also the desired work from home share. However, the generations have in common that they currently spend more time in the office than they would like to. This happens at the expense of the desired work from home shares. The greatest discrepancy in this respect exists within the Generation Z group (22 percentage points).

Slightly lower desire of work from home in central residential areas



Furthermore, the study examines to what extent the location of the home influences the desire for work from home time.

Figure 29: Desired work location depending on location of residence

Figure 29 shows a slight trend of decreasing work from home preferences as the proximity of one's home to the city centre increases. Thus, respondents who live in the village or in the countryside want to spend an average of 63% of their working time at home. Respondents who live in the city centre would like to spend 57% of their working time at home. Their location of residence has no obvious influence on the preference of working at the office. The desire to work at third places of work is somewhat stronger if the respondents indicate that they live in locations close to the city centre.



Figure 30: Current and desired work location distribution according to length of commute

Regarding the distribution of the work location depending on the distance between respondents' home and office, the tendency that working at home becomes more attractive with increasing distance of the home from the place of work can be seen. For the office, the opposite is the case: the shorter the distance to the office the greater the actual and desired shares to work in the office (Figure 30). Excluded from this analysis are respondents who report a commute of 0 minutes. They often do not have a workplace in the company's office, so their work is often completely remote.

Higher office shares with increasing importance of team dynamics in the company

The importance of team dynamics in companies could have an influence on the desired working time in the office. To test this assumption, the desired shares of work locations in the distribution of working time are compared to the construct team dynamics (cf. Figure 31).



To evaluate the importance of team dynamics, respondents were asked to rate the following statements:

- 1. Teamwork in my company is successful.
- 2. Teamwork is an important contribution to my work success.
- 3. My (direct) superiors prefer it when I come to work in the office.
- 4. My work colleagues come to the office to work.
- 5. It is part of the company culture to go to the office to work.
- The Cronbach's alpha is 0.784.

Figure 31: Desired work location distribution according to relevance of team dynamics

The results illustrate that the importance of team dynamics in a company and the desired proportion of work in the office increase at the expense of work from home. While respondents who state that team dynamics are only of low relevance in their companies would like to spend only 12% of their working time in the office, the share is more than three times higher (43%) among respondents with a high internal relevance of team dynamics.

Individual factors, satisfaction and productivity influence choice of work location

After having previously examined and presented the actual and the desired distribution of work locations, the aspects that influence the respondents' choice of work location are analysed below. For this purpose, the respondents were asked to evaluate the influence of input- and output-related aspects on their choice of work location (cf. Figure 32).



Figure 32: Influence of in- and output-related aspects on the choice of work location

The input-related aspects are considered by the respondents to have the greatest influence on the choice of work location. This includes individual factors such as personal preferences (67% agreement), commuting time (53%) and activities (50%). According to the respondents, environmental factors, such as teamwork, the design of the workplace or company guidelines, play a secondary role (28–19%).

Among the output-related factors, productivity (74%) and job satisfaction (67%) stand out in their influence on the choice of work location. The other aspects of motivation, stress management, creativity and company loyalty, follow with a gap of almost 20%. The second most important output-related aspect, job satisfaction, is perceived as equally decisive for the choice of work location as the most important input-related aspect (personal preferences), which underlines the importance of productivity and satisfaction for the employees' choice of work location.

4.2.2 Work success at the different places of work

After examining the respondents' choice of work location in Chapter 4.2.1 and finding that the determinants job success, job satisfaction and productivity have a significant influence on the choice of work location, these factors and their determinants are examined in more detail in the following part of the study.

Knowledge workers are by far the most satisfied with work from home

Following Cammann et al. (1983), survey participants' satisfaction with their work at the different work locations (work from home, office and third places) was measured. In addition, they were asked about their general life satisfaction (cf. Figure 33).



To evaluate satisfaction at the different locations, respondents were asked to rate the following statements:

1. All in all, I am very satisfied with my work from home/office/third places.

2. In general, I do not like my work at home/office/third places.

3. In general, I like working at home/at the office/at third places.

The Cronbach's alphas are 0.850 (work from home), 0.843 (office) and 0.788 (third places).

Figure 33: Satisfaction with work locations

Respondents indicate that they are most satisfied with work from home out of all work locations. Only 6% of respondents say they are dissatisfied with work at home. In comparison, only 57% of respondents say they are satisfied at the office. One in five is dissatisfied with working in the office. Among respondents who have experience of working in third places (for example, coworking spaces), 44% say they are satisfied with their work there. Every fifth person is also dissatisfied working in third places. Regarding their general life satisfaction, 72% of the study participants say they are satisfied.

Older respondents tend to be more satisfied with work from home than younger ones

For a better understanding of the satisfaction of office workers at the different places of work, subgroup analyses are carried out. For this purpose, the satisfaction at the home office and in the company office is examined depending on the age of the respondents (cf. Figure 34).



Figure 34: Satisfaction by work location and age

Satisfaction with work from home varies with the age of the respondents. Young people, in particular members of Generation Z, are still much more satisfied with working at home than in the office, but with an approval rate of 74% they fall somewhat behind the other generations. The highest satisfaction with the home workplace is documented by Generation X (84%). In respect of satisfaction with work in the office, no differences are discernible in the intergenerational comparison.

Satisfaction with work from home increases in peripheral locations

In addition to the comparison according to age groups, it was also examined whether differences exist depending on different real estate criteria. For this purpose, satisfaction at the various places of work is examined dependent on the residential location of the employees (cf. Figure 35) before being examined dependent on the length of the commute (cf. Figure 36).



Figure 35: Satisfaction by place of work and residential location

The results show that satisfaction with work from home decreases with increasing centrality of the residential location. Ninety percent of respondents with homes in the village or in the countryside state that they are satisfied at the work from home place. Among the survey participants who live in city centres, the approval rate is only 69%. In contrast, satisfaction with working in a third location tends to increase as the centrality of the residential location increases. Only 35% of respondents who live in the village or in the countryside are satisfied with third places of work. Among respondents who live near the centre or in city centres, more than half are satisfied with working there, for example in coworking spaces. No differences are observable concerning the influence of residential location on satisfaction with working in the office.





With respect to the length of the commute, there is no clear inclination towards satisfaction in the office. It is only noticeable that respondents with a commute of more than 60 minutes are the most satisfied (91%). However, satisfaction in the office tends to decrease with the distance of the office from the respondent's home.

Office workers tend to be more satisfied in cubicle offices

Satisfaction in the office could significantly depend on the design of the office space in the company of the respondents. For this reason, is must be investigated whether there are differences in the satisfaction of the respondents with regard to floor plan design and office concept.





As shown in Figure 37, office workers in who work shared offices with one or two colleagues are the most satisfied. Two out of three respondents who indicated this type of office are happy working in the office. The 58% of respondents who work in single offices and state that they are satisfied is also slightly higher than the average satisfaction in the office. By contrast, only about every second respondent is satisfied in open-plan offices and multi-spaces. There are no differences in office satisfaction when distinguishing between fixed workstations and desk sharing concepts.

Spatial conditions particularly influence satisfaction with work from home and at third locations

After taking a closer look at satisfaction at the different places of work, the determinants of satisfaction at the places of work are still unclear. Therefore, the influencing conditions are considered below. A distinction is made between spatial, social and work-related conditions (Figure 38).



Figure 38: Factors influencing satisfaction at the places of work

The spatial and real estate conditions have the greatest influence on satisfaction with work from home and at third locations. Around 40% of the respondents state that these were the main factors determining their satisfaction at the work locations. In both places, work-related conditions follow in second place. In comparison, satisfaction in the office is most strongly determined by social conditions (37%).

Spatial conditions at the home office are of increasing importance with increasing age

The significance of the various areas of influence on satisfaction at the places of work is also examined in more detail by subgroup analyses. This is why, the significance of the three areas depending on age for the work from home and office workplaces will be examined in more detail (see Figure 39).





In work from home, the importance of spatial conditions for satisfaction increases with age, from 39% (Generation Z) to 45% (Generation Baby Boomer). At the same time, the importance of social circumstances decreases, from 27% (Generation Z) to 18% (Generation Baby Boomer). Only minor changes can be observed regarding the importance of work-related circumstances. For job satisfaction in the office, no significant differences in the importance of spatial, social or work-related factors can be identified in the intergenerational comparison.

Knowledge workers are most productive when working from home

In addition to respondents' satisfaction at the different work locations, their productivity was also considered. The comparison of productivity at the different work locations was based on Krupper (2015) and is shown in Figure 40.



Figure 40: Productivity by place of work

Respondents are most productive when working from home. Seventy-six percent of study participants say they are very productive working at home. Merely one in ten of the participants disagree. Only around 60% of respondents are productive in the office and one in five even say they work unproductively in the corporate office. About half of the respondents with experience working in third places say they can work very productively there, whereas one in four is unproductive. These statements are also examined in more detail through subgroup comparisons.

Older people are more productive than younger people when working from home

First, the respondents' statements on their productivity at the various places of work are broken down by generation (see Figure 41).





Concerning work from home productivity, an increasing tendency can be observed with the age of the respondents. Among members of Generation Z, 68% say they work productively at home. Among members of Generation X and the Baby Boomers, four out of five work productively at home. Regarding productivity in the office, a slightly opposite trend can be seen. While 65% of Generation Z respondents can work productively in the office, only 57% of the Baby Boomers can do so. Concerning productivity at third locations, no clear trend can be discerned in the intergenerational comparison.

Increasing productivity with work from home among higher positions in the company

Figure 42 compares hierarchy levels to examine the correlations between company position and productivity at the various work locations.



Figure 42: Productivity by work location and hierarchical level

Work from home productivity increases with a hierarchical level from a high to a very high value. Seventy-two percent of the temporary help and trainees say they work productively at home. At management level, this figure is 84%. With regard to productivity at third locations, there is also a slight trend towards higher productivity with increasing hierarchy level. The proportion of those who can work productively at the office increases across the hierarchy levels from 62% among temporary help and trainees to 72% among members of management. Despite that, it drops to 39% among the executive management group.

Work from home productivity is higher in peripheral residential locations

Because it has already been established that satisfaction with work from home is higher in peripheral residential areas, a subgroup analysis is also carried out regarding productivity. Figure 43 shows productivity by residential location.





Eighty-four percent of respondents who live in a village or the countryside say they are productive when working from home. Work from home productivity decreases as proximity to the city increases. Among study participants living in city centres, only two out of three respondents report working productively at home. The location of the residence does not appear to affect productivity at the office. At third locations a slight tendency is visible: the closer employees live to the centre, the more productive they are at third locations.

Personality significantly influences work success

Having established that satisfaction and productivity largely depend on the respondents' individual determinants, Figure 44 examines the influence of personality on their success at work. To this end, the correlations between the personality characteristics of the Big 5 Inventory (Rammstedt et al., 2014) with satisfaction and productivity at the various work locations are examined.



Figure 44: Work success and personality traits

The three personality traits, extraversion, agreeableness and conscientiousness, are statistically significantly positively correlated with satisfaction and productivity in the office. Concerning conscientiousness, there is also a significant positive correlation between satisfaction and productivity at work from home. Neuroticism is significantly negatively correlated with satisfaction and productivity in the office and at work from home. Regarding the personality trait openness, there is a significant negative correlation between satisfaction and productivity in the office, but a positive correlation with both success factors of work from home.

Agile work increases satisfaction and productivity with work from home and office

Figure 45 shows the relationship between respondents' work-related agility (measured following Sherehiy and Karwowski, 2014) and their work from home and office success.







Figure 45: Work success and agile work

The high work-related agility of the respondents positively influences work success both at work from home and in the office. In the office, task diversity, skill diversity, team awareness, adaptability and resilience positively affect respondents' satisfaction. Productivity is influenced by respondents' skill diversity, team awareness, adaptability and resilience. In the home workplace, respondents' autonomy, demand and skill diversity, proactiveness and resilience affect their job satisfaction. Productivity is influenced by the same characteristics as well as respondents' adaptability.

Satisfaction and productivity are highly correlated

After similar correlations between satisfaction and productivity of the respondents could be observed repeatedly in the previous part of the study, the relationship between both work success indicators is examined in more detail below using correlations.

Satisfaction	Office	Work from home	Third places
Productivity			
Office	.594**		
Work from home		.653**	
Third places			.660**
** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-sided)			

Figure 46: Correlation of productivity and satisfaction by place of work

Figure 46 shows the correlations between satisfaction and productivity at the various work locations. There is a significant positive correlation between the two characteristics of job satisfaction at all three work locations.

Burnout and boreout risk is greater in the office than at work from home

In addition to the inquiry about productivity and satisfaction, respondents were asked about the emotional burden of their work, perceived stress and boredom in order to obtain a comprehensive picture of their work success. Perceptions of stress and boredom were measured on scales based on Maslach et al. (1986) and Reijseger et al. (2013).



Figure 47: Burnout and boreout at work

Figure 47 shows that one in three respondents state that they suffer from stress at work. Around one in five of the respondents feel bored by their work. Figure 48 illustrates that these negative effects could be related to the choice of work location. For example, significant negative correlations exist between hours spent working at home and burnout and boreout. The more hours respondents spend working from home the lower the sensation of burnout and boreout. The opposite effect is the case in the office.



The correlation is significant at the 0.01 lever (2 succe).

Figure 48: Correlation between work from home, office hours, burnout and boreout



Figure 49: Correlation of work success of different work locations with burnout and boreout

In addition, Figure 49 shows that higher mental workloads due to stress and boredom are associated with reduced work success at various work locations.

Figure 50, on the other hand, clearly shows that high levels of the agile work characteristics autonomy, adaptability and resilience on the one hand, and autonomy, diversity of requirements, diversity of skills, team awareness, adaptability, proactivity and resilience on the other hand, are significantly negatively correlated with burnout and boreout.



Figure 50: Relationship between burnout, boreout and agile work

4.3 Change management

Work from home, and thus multi-local work, is no longer inconceivable. The new spatial organisation of work is a challenge for companies as well as for individual employees. The question of "how" in the change process massively interferes with the fundamentals of life and work. Not everyone enjoys work or performs equally as well in every location. For overall success, a careful approach to new arrangements is required. The conscious design of change processes in the context of distributed work locations is the foundation for a successful transition to the New Normal. Establishing rules for mobile working and putting them into practice is undoubtedly one of the most significant challenges in the coming years. The rules are already being discussed in the context of the policy workshop on *mobile working* at the Ministry of Labour. Therefore, this section deals explicitly with these change management processes.

A low percentage of respondents have fixed working hours and an even lower percentage record working hours

Regardless of the place of work, the respondents were first asked whether there are fixed regulations in their company concerning the allocation of working hours and breaks (cf. Figure 51).



Figure 51: Existence of working time regulations

The results show a very heterogeneous picture. While 49% of respondents agree that they have fixed rules for allocating working hours and breaks, 41% disagree with this statement. This strong dispersion in the data allows the assumption that certain work-related characteristics play a role in the existence of working time regulations. The subgroup analyses in Figure 52 offer a way to understand the strong dispersion in the data better.





The existence of regulations on allocating working time and breaks depends on the size of the company and the sector. The existence of working time regulations increases with increasing company size. For example, only 19% of respondents in micro-enterprises say they have working time regulations, whereas 60% of respondents in large enterprises agree with this statement. Furthermore, two-thirds of respondents who work in industry have working

time regulations. In contrast, only 37% of respondents working in the service sector have working time regulations.

In addition to regulating working time, the working time recording in companies is also examined. The results are shown in Figure 53.



Figure 53: Method of recording working time

Around 31% of respondents do not currently record their working hours. With 14.8 million office workers (Hammermann and Voigtländer, 2020), this means that 4.6 million office workers do not currently record their working time. In contrast, 31% record their working time remotely (e.g. via a smartphone), 18% with the help of a timesheet and 17% through hardware terminals (e.g. stationary readers). Again, there are apparent differences when looking at subgroups. For example, 63% of respondents who work in microenterprises do not record their working hours. In contrast, 82% of respondents who work in large companies record their working time.

In the future, respondents expect to be more involved in the change management process when making decisions about mobile working

The current status quo shows that only a small proportion currently influences the development of targets for the organisation of mobile working in companies (cf. Figure 54).


Figure 54: Influence of employees in change processes for mobile working

Around 45% of respondents state that they can influence the development of targets for the organisation of mobile work. At the same time, 34% state that they cannot influence the targets. Therefore, it can be assumed that there must be one or multiple characteristics that lead to data scattering here. The subgroup analyses in Figure 55 can explain the scatter to some extent.



Figure 55: Influence of employees on change processes for mobile working by hierarchical level and company size

According to the survey, employees' influence on the targets for organising mobile work depends on the respondents' hierarchical level and the company's size. Around 64% of respondents who work in executive management and 55% of respondents who work in management can exert influence in the development of targets. At the same time, there is a negative correlation between exerting influence in the development of targets for the organisation of mobile work and company size. This means that employees in small enterprises are more likely to have influence on target employees in large enterprises.

Even if the influence of employees in change processes for mobile working is currently relatively low, they expect to be more involved in the future (see Figure 56).



Figure 56: Expectations regarding involvement in change processes

Around 77% of respondents would like to be involved in selecting work locations offered for mobile work. Moreover, 71% of respondents state that they would like to be involved in developing regulations for distributed work and 70% would like to be involved in implementing the change process. Together, these results show that the design and implementation of change processes have long since ceased to be purely management tasks and must instead be carried out through the interaction of the management and the employees. This statement is also underlined by Figure 57.



Figure 57: Levels of decision-making in change management

Forty-three percent of respondents indicate that decisions regarding changes to work location regulations should be made at the team level while 39% state that individual regulations for each employee are the best level of decision-making. Only 18% of respondents indicate that decision-making should be uniform for the entire company.

Mobile working is becoming increasingly important for employees and is becoming the new normal of the working world

Flexible work in terms of location has become established and will be indispensable in the future for many respondents (see Figure 58).



Figure 58: Relevance of mobile working

For 87% of respondents, it is essential to be able to work flexibly in the future. They would even be prepared to accept a certain amount of sacrifice in other aspects of work. At the same time, 46% state, slightly contradictorily, that they would rather classify multi-local working as the new standard and would, therefore, not be prepared to make concessions in other work areas. Accordingly, the respondents appreciate the possibility of mobile working and would even accommodate the employer in this respect. In particular, the respondents would be willing to make concessions regarding office quality, salary and vacation days, but not all of them (see Figure 59).



Figure 59: Countervalue to the possibility of working flexibly in terms of location and time

More than one in three respondents would be willing to accept a reduction in office quality in exchange for the right to work remotely. Fifty-eight percent of respondents would forego a fixed workstation and accept the desk sharing concept in exchange for the right to work remotely. Furthermore, 39% of respondents are willing to pay for a workstation at home (e.g. an external monitor) to be able to work remotely (see Figure 60). In addition to compromising on office quality, around one in seven of the participants are prepared to accept a salary reduction or vacation days to be able to work remotely. On average, the salary sacrifice limit to be allowed to work flexibly in the future is 2.5%. The results make it clear that mobile working is important to many office workers and that in some cases they would be prepared to accept cuts in office quality, salary or vacation days.



Figure 60: Employees' accommodation for mobile work

Mobile working thus appears to be a decisive criterion for many office workers when choosing a job or, to put it another way, the lack of the possibility to work on a mobile basis can be a reason for an intention to quit (see Figure 61).



To evaluate the expectations of change management, respondents were asked to rate the following statements:

1. I will actively look for a new job in the next 6 months if I am not allowed to choose my workplace flexibly.

2. I am thinking about leaving my job in the next 6 months if I am not allowed to choose my workplace flexibly.

3. I am likely to work for another organisation in the next 6 months if I am not allowed to choose my workplace flexibly.

Cronbach's alpha is 0.952.

Figure 61: Increased intention to quit due to lack of opportunity for mobile working

Around one in four respondents say they would quit if the company did not offer the option of mobile working. The intention to quit depends on the generation to which the employee belongs. For example, 26% of Generation Z (< 26 years), 23% of Generation Y (26–40 years), 17% of Generation X (41–55 years) and 12% of Generation Bb (> 55 years) say they would quit if mobile working was not possible in the company. Mobile working thus seems to play a unique role in the war for talent.

High relevance of support services (training and technical support) of mobile working for respondents

The survey results show that the desire for training on mobile working topics exceeds the current supply (cf. Figure 62).



Figure 62: Need for training and technical support in mobile working

Thirty-one percent of respondents state that their company offers specific training to improve how they deal with mobile working issues and 43% would like to see this in the future. Furthermore, 49% of respondents state that their company offers technology support for mobile work. In the future, 54% of respondents would like technology support.

4.4 Work at third work places

In the context of multi-local work, the topic of third places is particularly worthy of investigation as this will presumably continue to grow in popularity in the future. As already introduced in Chapter 2.2, this study uses the term "third (work) place" as an umbrella term for lounges/trains/airplanes, catering establishments (e.g. cafés), in-house corporate coworking spaces (e.g. satellite offices), public coworking spaces and workation.

Around one in three has experience working in third places

First, the study participants were asked if they already had experience working in third places. Of the 1,136 respondents, approximately 29% indicated they had experience working in third places. In absolute terms, 331 respondents have experience; hence, the following analyses focus on this sample. With the help of subgroup analyses, respondents with experience in third places can be better classified (Figure 63).



Figure 63: Experience at third places of work by generation

It is particularly striking that 53% of respondents with experience in third places can be assigned to Generation Y (26–40 years). In addition, 18% of respondents with experience in third places can be assigned to Generation Z (< 26 years) and another 22% to Generation X (41–55 years). Only 7% of respondents with experience in third places belong to the Baby Boomer generation. It also shows that white-collar workers and civil servants are underrepresented in contrast to the overall sample, and self-employed people as well as freelancers are more likely to have experience in third places of work.

Willingness to use third work places is high

Many respondents with work experience in third places are willing to use them more often (see Figure 64).



Figure 64: Willingness to use alternative work places

Around 62% of respondents with experience working in third places would use alternative work places if they were available and suitable for their work and, therefore, would come to the office less often. However, it is also clear that more than one in five of the respondents are not convinced about alternative work places.

Financial burdens of alternative work places are discouragement to employees

Respondents were asked to assess whether the financial burden of using a work place was a reason to work at that place less often. Figure 65 illustrates the result.



Figure 65: Financial burdens from work places are undesirable

Around 64% of respondents with experience in third work places are less likely to use a place for work if it results in financial burdens. This means that 36% of respondents would accept a financial burden in exchange for being able to work at a particular work place.

Because it is quite conceivable that employees use several different types of third places over a work year, the desired distribution of working time at the various alternative work places is broken down below (see Figure 66).



Figure 66: Distribution of working time in third places

If respondents were free to allocate the time they spent working in third-party locations as they wished, then lounges, trains, and airplanes would account for 20% of their work time, food service establishments 27%, corporate coworking spaces 18%, public coworking spaces 15% and workation 21%.

4.4.1 Coworking spaces

The Department of Real Estate Management and Construction Management at the Technical University of Darmstadt has already conducted intensive research on work in third places recently. This report subsequently focuses on coworking spaces and workation to derive statements on the status quo and the development of these work places, which are increasingly gaining interest.

Especially from a social perspective, it makes sense for respondents to go to coworking spaces

Coworking spaces are flexible workspaces that offer individual or institutional users flexible and autonomous use of office and social spaces. Guided by the idea of community, direct interactions between users enable an environment for cultural and business exchange (Bouncken and Reuschl, 2018; Wagner et al., 2021). The original focus of traditional coworking spaces is on creating a community. For the respondents of this study, the social perspective is a key reason for going to coworking spaces to work (Figure 67).



Figure 67: Sustainability perspectives on coworking spaces

For around 49% of respondents, working in coworking spaces makes sense from a social viewpoint. However, 34% of respondents disagree with this statement. This means that social exchange is not a reason to go to coworking spaces for many respondents. Every third respondent thinks it makes sense to go into a coworking space from an ecological perspective while 28% think it makes sense from a financial perspective.

Respondents see the advantages and disadvantages of working in coworking spaces as roughly balanced

Part of the survey was to assess positive and negative statements regarding working in coworking spaces. The results regarding the advantages of coworking spaces are shown in Figure 68.



Figure 68: Advantages of working in coworking spaces

Of the respondents with experience in third workplaces, one in two can imagine working in a coworking space. This, in turn, also means that 50% of respondents would disagree with this statement. Forty-four percent of respondents can imagine the exchange with people from different job fields in coworking spaces enriching their work (35% of respondents disagree) and 45% of respondents can imagine working more creatively and innovatively in a coworking space (35% of respondents disagree). According to the respondents, other advantages of working in coworking spaces include the better working atmosphere and networking. Figure 69 shows the disadvantages of working in coworking in coworking spaces.



Figure 69: Disadvantages of working in coworking spaces

It is clear that 40% of respondents agree with the statement that working in coworking spaces is associated with significant inefficiencies. More than one in three respondents with experience in third work places even state that working in coworking spaces is not an option for them. Other frequently mentioned disadvantages associated with working in coworking spaces are the lack of data privacy and data security as well as distractions or loudness.

The reasons for working in coworking spaces are diverse

The perception of working inefficiently in coworking spaces may be due to performing the wrong activities at these workplaces. In the following, aspects of working in coworking spaces are examined in more detail (see Figure 70).



Excluded from the sample size (n) are respondents who selected "Cannot answer" for each statement.

Figure 70: Work in coworking spaces

Around 58% of respondents with experience in third workspaces state that it is their free choice to work in coworking spaces. Forty-nine percent of respondents state that working in coworking spaces promotes flexibility (30% disagree) and 46% agree on the fact that working in coworking spaces supports a good work–life balance (35% disagree). In each case, 46% of respondents indicate that additional benefits outside of work (e.g. after-work events) and good catering options are reasons for working in coworking spaces. The results regarding the success of working in coworking spaces are surprisingly dichotomous. Thirty-seven

percent of respondents agree that working in coworking spaces is very successful and 36% would disagree with this statement. Furthermore, it seems that especially activities requiring a high degree of concentration cannot be carried out successfully in coworking spaces. Only about one-third of respondents agree with the statement that working in coworking spaces is beneficial to the performance of tasks that require concentration.

4.4.2 Workation

Workation is understood as a relatively new form of mobile work, which developed as a response to increasing digitalisation and flexibilization. Employees appreciate flexible work practices because of the possibility of combining their private and business life. Temporary work at a vacation location enables them to achieve a high level of work–life–leisure integration. In addition to the impact on the working lives of knowledge workers, companies in different industries are also experiencing new needs and opportunities because of workation (Voll et al., 2022).

Workation is already actively exercised by some employees and will be even more interesting in the future

The respondents with experience in third places were also explicitly asked about their experience with the new trend of mobile work, called "workation". This revealed an exciting picture because exactly half (50%) of the employees with experience in third places have already gained experience with workation. Figure 71 shows the experience with workation broken down by company size.



Figure 71: Experience with workation by company size

In comparing the groups of respondents with workation experience and those without workation experience, significantly more respondents with workation experience work in micro-enterprises (7% difference) and significantly fewer in large enterprises (10% difference). It is also clear that the experienced group includes a comparatively large number (19%) of Generation Z respondents (less than 26 years of age). In addition, respondents with workation experience report a higher net household income than their comparison group without workation experience.

Interest in workation overtakes the desire for sabbatical

Among respondents with experience in third places, a clear majority show openness to workation (see Figure 72).



Figure 72: Openness to workation

More than two-thirds (72%) of respondents with third place experience could imagine doing workation (again) in the future. If the respondents were given a choice between a sabbatical and a longer leave in addition to the annual leave, or workation, then 46% would opt for workation, 39% for a longer leave and 15% are indifferent. Figure 73 is a direct comparison showing that workation is more important to respondents than the option of a sabbatical.



Figure 73: Importance of workation compared to a sabbatical

Combination of work and vacation is the main reason for workation

The reasons for workation are diverse. Respondents were offered 19 choices, which were derived from the literature plus the option to provide additional reasons. It was possible to select more than one reason. Figure 74 lists the reasons in descending order of relevance.



Figure 74: Reasons for workation

The most frequently named reason for workation is the combination of the necessary work with beneficial vacation and free time (60% agreement). All the other reasons apply to less than half of the respondents with workation experience. It is worth highlighting that almost one in four (24%) do workation to achieve a work goal. Nine percent say they have done workation as a team activity with their company, for example, in the form of offsite events outside the office premises.

On average, employees spend about two weeks per year on workation

Employees were asked to indicate how long they had spent on workation. Figure 75 shows that a clear majority of workation lasted up to one week per year.



Figure 75: Workation duration

The median duration of workation for the group of workation-experienced people is 12 days. It is noteworthy that 9% indicate more than 28 days of workation. Within the 9% with the longest length of stay, workation lasted 46 days on average.

Other European countries are popular workation destinations

Those 149 respondents with workation experience provided information about their location. The results were divided into three groups: Germany, other European countries and other countries worldwide (see Figure 76).



Figure 76: Workation locations

The most popular destinations for doing a workation among respondents are other European countries. Half of the respondents (51%) say they have already been on workation there while 38% stayed in Germany during their workation and 11% travelled to other countries in the world.

The car serves as the most common means of transportation for workation travel

Travelling to the workation site can be by public or individual means of transport. Figure 77 shows an overview of the means of transportation used by the respondents. The selection of multiple options was possible.



Figure 77: Workation journey means of transport

Half of the respondents (51%) travelled to their workation by car while 41% used an airplane and less than a third (29%) took the train. A further 6% used other means of transport to get there. Other respondents indicate that they had travelled by bus, motor home, boat or motorcycle.

Every second person is in favour of workation at a hotel

Workation can be done in a variety of accommodations. Figure 78 shows the results for respondents with workation experience. It was possible to select multiple types of accommodation.



Figure 78: Workation accommodation

Every second respondent (51%) has already stayed in a hotel or hotel complex during their workation. The second most common type of accommodation is a rented holiday home, where 44% of respondents spent their workation. One in four of the respondents (25%) owns a holiday home or second home where these respondents have stayed during their workation. Hostels, campsites, farms or boats were used much less frequently as accommodation for a workation.

5 Conclusion and practical implications

The study results in Chapter 4 show that since the COVID-19 pandemic, work from home has come to stay. Above all, this has implications for the physical organisation of work or, in other words, the question of where knowledge-based work will be performed in the future. Overall, the study results make it clear that the world of work is currently undergoing a development: A new concept of physical work organisation is being developed prompted by the emergency working solutions due to the pandemic. But who is actually initiating the development? The study results answering this question are exciting and, in some way, irritating at the same time. The most obvious party involved are the employees who do not intend to give up their freedom gained during the pandemic. During that time, they were able to work from wherever they wanted as long as it was in accordance with the legal requirements of the pandemic. What has remained after the pandemic is the realisation that work success, satisfaction, health and, above all, the more effective integration of life and work can be increased quite significantly if the rigid regulations of the office work location are abandoned. The authors of this study, driven by the results of the Pfnür et al. (2021) study, expected employees longing to return to the office after an extensive period spent working at home. Yet, surprisingly, with the expiration of the pandemic this effect did not occur—at least until now. Instead, the results show that the need for freedom in the place of work and for multi-locational work has increased. According to the authors' observations, the effect of work from home was probably overestimated in the short term during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the long-term consequences are currently in danger of being underestimated. The knowledge workers' extensive freedom to choose their own place of work after the pandemic is of central importance for the future development of multi-local work. Whereas in pandemic times around 40% of employees suffered silently in work from home (Pfnür et al. 2021), they can now perform their work productively and satisfactorily again at the office or from a third work place. Therefore, the average 13% increase in work productivity recorded in the first study will have increased massively once again. After all, 40% of respondents state that their productivity in the home office had deteriorated, in some cases very significantly, compared with the situation before the pandemic. The same applied to job satisfaction. Now that these "home office losers" have returned to the office or can seek out third places to work, their work success has improved in the long term as many individual results of the second study indicate. The newly discovered individual freedom in the place where work is performed is of fundamental importance for the economy and society, and it seems hard to overestimate. Here are a few examples:

- Better compatibility of family and work in general, the possibilities in child care and the care of seniors in the private environment in particular.

- Living in the residential neighbourhood and the resulting improvement of neighbourhood relationships and social relationships in the private sphere. Growing opportunities for social integration in a lonely society.

- Growing demand for restaurants, services, medical care, educational institutions, etc., in the cities' neighbourhoods and periphery, with a simultaneous decline in demand at the previous office locations, especially in the city centres.

- Increasing the attractiveness of rural areas.

- Opportunity for a decrease in commuting.

- Opportunity to increase the labour supply of the national economy through more parttime employees (see above for arguments) through the extension of effective working lives.

- Opportunity to improve occupational health, especially in the psychosocial area.

- Opportunity for companies to achieve higher life and work satisfaction among employees and, thus, potential for improving work results, corporate culture, employee identification, employee commitment, etc.

Overall, the world of work is transforming as never seen before due to the new opportunities for multi-local work. Further optimisation of the physical organisation of work will also contribute to this in the future. In this study, the focus is extended to two aspects besides work from home and the office: work at third places (especially coworking spaces) and vacation locations (workation).

In the next chapter it will be examined how the transformation of working environments towards a new concept that best uses the potential outlined above can succeed. In the following sections, initial implications for the necessity of laws concerning employees, companies and stakeholders in the real estate industry are presented. The interpretations have been formulated carefully as this is a new research area and, to date, the number of empirical studies is limited.

5.1 Multi-locality of the working world - the development of a concept for a better spatial integration of life and work

Multi-local work is changing working environments and social life on a gigantic scale

A planned process is needed at the societal and, in particular, the political level to use the consequences of the change in working environments for the better. In addition, it is also necessary to initiate the necessary transformation of office buildings that goes hand-in-hand with multi-local work. In this context, the increased possible inclusion of third places in the workspace concept of companies and employees' everyday working lives also plays a role. Effects in many areas of society accompany the change in the world of work. Some examples of this, derived from the data of the current study, are shown below:

- **Traffic:** The continuing desire for work from home and increasing work at third places may reduce traffic. This assumption is based on several findings. First, for 53% of respondents, the commute to work or commute time is the deciding factor in their choice of work location. Not surprisingly, working at home becomes more attractive as the distance between home and work increases. Concerning the office, the opposite effect can be seen. With shorter commutes to the office, the current and future desired proportions of work from there are greater. Particularly among respondents with a commute of more than 60 minutes, it is evident that more than 90% of them are satisfied working from home and, thus, presumably happy to forego the long commutes.

In addition, just under half of employees state that their commute is physically, mentally or emotionally stressful. More than 45% of those surveyed would like to avoid this strain and the CO₂ emissions caused by their commute, which should further reduce the traffic volume. If we also look at the days on which more employees would like to go to the office to work in the future, we find that the probability of going to the office on individual days of the week is roughly the same, at around 50% in each case. Only on Fridays is the probability somewhat lower. As a result, it would be possible for commuting flows to be equalized or at least shifted.

The possibility of working in third places, for example, in coworking spaces, also enables short commutes for 33% of those who already have working experience in such places. Thus, an additional reduced traffic volume could be possible with an increase in coworking space users.

- Environment: As already recognised, one concern of employees is to reduce CO₂ emissions by working from home. Around 41% of respondents also want to work more at home to protect the climate by not having to maintain, heat and operate an office space. Also, one-third of employees who have experience working in coworking spaces indicate that it makes sense for them to work in these locations from an environmental perspective. As a result, multi-local work can directly serve to help employees individually contribute to environmental sustainability. However, it is also up to the companies to react to a possible vacancy through suitable space adjustments, such as renting out surplus office space and supplementing the portfolio with third places close to their employees, not slowing down the positive effect.

- Health: Multi-local work and especially work from home have an extremely positive effect on the health of office workers. The study shows a clear negative correlation between the amount of time spent working from home and the levels of stress (burnout) and boredom (boreout). An opposite effect has been identified in the office. Company representatives say that a higher proportion of work from home is associated with lower sickness rates among employees. Workplace reintegration also arguably runs more smoothly. Moreover, more than half say they work more at home in terms of time and quantity, and more often, even if they don't feel well health-wise. Nevertheless, knowledge workers are by far the most satisfied with work from home when comparing work locations. Nevertheless, it is vital for work from home to be intensively discussed in reorganising the legal regulations on mobile work, especially from an occupational health perspective. Finally, the indications of the positive effect of work from home on the psychographic stress of the respondents should not be replaced by other health risks.

- Social integration: The study's results clarify that work from home enables better work–life integration for many employees. Seventy-two percent of respondents would like to continue working from home more often as this allows them to balance their private and professional lives better, and they find this pleasant. The employees' creativity even goes so far as to use the private premises for physical meetings with colleagues, which clearly shows that social interaction is also promoted with work from home.

- **Prosperity**: The desire to work from home has increased even further over the last three years. Compared to the survey in 2021, instead of an average of 54%, employees want to work from home as much as 59% of the time per week in the future. The reasons for this are varied, but the bottom line is that work from home enables a higher perceived standard of living through potentially more individual quality of life. Eighty-one percent

of office workers are satisfied with working at home. Working in coworking spaces is also perceived as conducive to a good work–life balance for just under one in two with work experience there. Employees have experienced the freedom of choosing their place of work according to their own requirements and needs, and would no longer like to do without this prosperity. Neither the office, nor work from home, nor third places can serve the varying needs of office workers alone in the future. The potential of each individual location unfolds in a multi-local working world through the added value of a free choice of work location.

The importance of work from home for society has hardly been recognised to date

The reduction of traffic volume, positive environmental impact, positive effects on employees' health, greater social integration and increased job and life satisfaction: work from home offers unimagined social benefits. At the same time, however, there is also a societal risk in expanding work from home shares, namely, the division into population groups with a high work from home share on the one hand and the group of those with a low share on the other. If only selected employees enjoy the aforementioned benefits, such as improved health, greater (life) satisfaction and a better work–life balance, then work from home will become more of an elite issue than ever before and not only the team structures in companies will be at risk of becoming unbalanced.

Therefore, when establishing a multi-location concept, special attention must be paid to the question of how potentials can be realised and risks avoided. The way out could be the transformation to truly multi-local working in which each office worker can individually select the solution that maximises benefits for him or her within the constraints of the corporate context. Work from home is promising but is currently only used for 43% of working hours on average. The office also offers advantages for certain types of work and third places, such as coworking spaces, can be a helpful addition. Employees' individual (work and) life situation requires solutions to be developed for the design, which can be adapted to the situation and are not based on a rigid structure. A uniform solution for mobile work is challenging to derive and inevitably threatens to stifle any potential. Accordingly, in the interests of employees, employers and legislators should strive for regulations that allow a high degree of freedom in choosing a suitable location.

For policymakers, the inevitable result is the need to give the "new" work a legal framework. The goal should be to support companies and their employees in the transformation process of a changing world of work. However, this should allow flexibility for companies to make arrangements at the organisational unit or individual employee level in order to incorporate the individual needs of employers and employees in the event of changes to the regulations governing the choice of work location.

Multi-local work has great economic potential, which is already being realised to a considerable extent, but not yet to the full extent

Working at distributed locations enables economic growth as seen by the high productivity of work from home. Around 76% of respondents find their work at home productive. In addition, work success at third-party work places, whether in-house coworking spaces, e.g. in the form of satellite offices, outside the company, or at workation, is rated positively by 50% of respondents with experience. Already in the first survey, an increase in productivity with work from home compared to the office workplace of an average of 11–14% could be recognised. Under the condition of self-determination of the choice of work location in a multi-local working world, an increase in work from home and work at third places will, according to the results of this study, noticeably increase the productivity of employees. As a result, economic growth is generated. In addition, there is a potential expansion of the workforce: easier reintegration into the workplace, access to workers even over greater geographical distances and easier reconciliation of life and work with the associated lowering of barriers to taking up part-time work could expand the pool of workers for companies. Multi-locality as a concept of the world of work and the associated free choice of place of work are, therefore, to be welcomed from an economic point of view.

Conversely, restricting the freedom to choose where to work has economic disadvantages. Although one in ten people say they do not work productively at home, significantly fewer (61%) are productive in the office. If knowledge workers are forced to return to the office for their entire working hours, then their productivity will decline. Accordingly, it is important to avoid such an obligation.

Another economic disadvantage that must be avoided is not expanding the share of remote work beyond the share of tasks that can be successfully performed on the move. According to the results of this study, the respondents indicate that they could perform a large part of their work tasks on a mobile/remote basis, with an average of 57%. A comparison with the first part of the study from 2021 (60% remotely capable tasks) shows a stability of this mean value. However, the mean values should be viewed cautiously as the information provided by employees varies considerably (relatively high standard deviation of 33%). One-fifth of respondents can perform a maximum of 20% of their tasks remotely, whereas one-third can perform at least 80% of their work tasks remotely. The finding gives rise to the assumption that it is difficult to derive a uniform solution for mobile work for the entire workforce. In addition to work from home and the office, other work locations are essential for everyone to complete their work tasks as efficiently as possible and subsequently achieve economic benefits.

Regulations must also clarify equipment issues. Here, further potential for increasing work success for employees and companies is revealed. Legal regulations to protect employees and their equipment at home are necessary because work success is currently based to a large extent on the goodwill of employees, not on support from employers. However, many respondents would like to see more significant support. Adequate provision of work equipment is not only in the interest of companies. Policymakers must also understand the potential of work from home to maintain Germany's competitiveness as a business location in international comparison and contribute to its expansion.

As part of considering possible economic risks, it is also essential to discuss how to deal with possible asset losses from vacant office space that is no longer needed and cannot be put to any other use.

5.2 Implications of multi-local work for employees and employee representation

While some employees clearly prefer increasing the work from home-share, others prefer the office or working in third places. The very high dispersion in the data illustrates that performing work efficiently requires individually appropriate work locations. Workers' choice of locations depends on their situational and individual decisions. Employee representatives must represent the interest in being able to work multi-locational—as long as it increases the work's success—to the companies wherever possible.

From the employees' point of view, the question arises as to whether and how they can use the new freedom they may have gained for themselves

Knowledge workers in Germany are increasingly consciously questioning their choice of work location. This inevitably raises the question of what the ideal local distribution of work among different work locations should look like. The results of both studies show that the desire to work from home has increased even more over the last three years. Compared to the survey in 2020, employees want to work from home in the future for as much as 59% of the weekly working time instead of an average of 54%. Similarly, there is a trend across all generations to want to spend less time in the office in the future (33%) than they currently do (51%). The most significant discrepancy between the actual and desired situation exists among the youngest employees, Generation Z. For many employees, working in different locations is an integral part of the new world of work. The consideration of multi-locality goes beyond work from home development and the office's role in the future working world. At present, just under one-third of those surveyed use third locations for work.

The respondents not only state that they want to work more at home but also that, on average, they actually want to be able to do a large part (57%) of their work on the move. It is clear that the desired proportion of work from home is almost identical to the proportion of tasks that can be performed remotely. As other studies have already shown (Höcker et al., 2022), this finding also suggests that respondents are, on average, well able to assess what the individual local distribution of work among different locations should look like. Multilocal work creates a gain for employees that should not be underestimated as they seem to be aware of the individual benefits of the respective work locations.

If the focus is shifted to the criteria respondents use when choosing a place of work, then the results show two clear trends:

- 1. First, work success is the decisive factor for the choice of place of work. Productivity is by far the most frequent factor according to which employees choose their place of work (74%). This is accompanied by satisfaction, which also influences the choice of work location for 67% of respondents. Motivation, stress management and creativity are also confirmed as relevant factors by one-third to one-half of the respondents.
- 2. Second, the choice of the workplace is significantly influenced by personal preferences (67% of respondents agree). In addition, for more than half of the respondents, the commute and the activities also influence the choice of workplace. The choice is thus primarily determined by the work success achieved and other personal influencing factors.

For employee representatives, these results provide an important insight. There appears to be a fundamental equality of interests between employee and employer. The concept of multi-local work opens up advantages for both sides in equal measure. If employees choose their place of work mainly based on their own productivity and satisfaction, then the benefit of both the individual employee and the company will be maximised. It is, therefore, an essential task of employee representation to achieve the greatest possible freedom of choice for employees when introducing regulation of mobile work.

Employees must adapt individually to multi-local work in the best possible way

The results of this study provide employees with a knowledge base about the benefits and suitability of working in different locations. Knowledge of these opportunities and risks enables them to make the best use of the concept of multi-local work. In the following, it is shown for the respective work locations at home, in the office and in third places how the balance of benefits turns out on average for the respondents. On this basis, employees can look at their individual situation and identify suitable work locations for themselves to emerge as winners of multi-local work.

1) General conditions of an efficient work from home

On average, the individual success of working at home is of outstanding importance for the respondents. For the majority of employees, working at home is associated with a high level of satisfaction.

- Influence of age

Just 6% say they are unhappy with work from home. However, the younger respondents, in particular (Gen Z: < 26 years), tend to be among the more dissatisfied.

- Influence of the centrality of the residential location

In addition, satisfaction strongly depends on the residential location. While 90% of respondents who live in the village are satisfied, only 69% of those who live in the city centre are satisfied with work from home. The majority also rate productivity higher at home than at other work locations. It is striking that productivity for work at home is highest for residences in peripheral locations. Here, 84% of respondents are productive in work from home, whereas the value decreases with increasing proximity to the city; in the inner city, only 66% of employees are productive at home.

- Influence of spatial conditions

Satisfaction with work from home is determined first and foremost by the spatial conditions, for example, the size and quality of the workplace. So what should the efficient workplace at home look like?

A look at the workspace shows that only every second respondent has a separate study at home. To be able to perform individual tasks at the desk, which are often better done at home, well, a work environment conducive to concentration is required for work from home. Most respondents achieve high success and good quality of work at home to date although they do not currently receive sufficient support in setting up the home office; indeed, 38% of the respondents have not received any cost sharing from their employer. About 40% of study participants also report that they have not received the equipment needed to work from home from their employer. Around 15% of respondents do not have a sufficiently reliable and fast Internet connection, one in three does not have adequate furniture, and only 40% of respondents have fully equipped information and communication technologies at home. If employees would like to further increase their work success at home or make working at a home office possible at all, then the employer should provide adequate furnishings. To ensure that employees do not have to bear the costs of these investments alone, employee representatives are called upon. In the policy process for developing a mobile working guideline, the interest of employees must be represented such that employers finance a minimum level of equipment.

- Influence of work-life integration

The most important potential of working at home is said to be the better integration of life and work compared to working in the office. The fear that the subjective success of work from home is achieved at the expense of work performance can be dispelled based on the empirical results of this study. The employees state that they are more motivated when working from home, work more in quantity and time and are more frequently available for more extended periods. Sixty-two percent of those surveyed also rate the quality of their work higher at home.

- Influence of the activities

For activities at the desk, such as individual work that requires concentration, correspondence or (video) telephone calls, the results show that a large proportion of respondents can do these more efficiently at home. They seem to have enough peace and quiet there to maintain the necessary concentration—apparently even better than in the office.

In addition to the goal of increasing work success, i.e. productivity and satisfaction, employees should pay attention to reducing work failures, such as boredom or stress, to avoid experiencing health limitations.

- Influence of burnout and boreout risks

The results of the study show that there is a negative significant correlation between work from home hours and burnout and boreout. This means that a higher number of hours of work from home are associated with lower levels of burnout and boreout.

2) When do office workers still go to the office?

A number of reasons suggest that certain respondents would prefer to work in the office or that some activities are more successful in the office.

- Collaboration influence

In particular, collaborative activities, such as meetings or teamwork, can be performed better in the office by 50–69% of employees and more than half of those surveyed would like to return to their office more often in the future because of the easier exchange with colleagues. The extent to which team dynamics influence the desire to work in the office is made clear in the results by the desired proportion of work per week. If the relevance of team dynamics is high compared to low, then the interest in working in the office increases by just under one-third, thus increasing the weekly working time spent there.

- Influence of team dynamics

The finding that communicative activities and a high level of team dynamics influence the decision to work in the office is not surprising as the empirical results also show that social conditions, such as team composition or the relationship with superiors and colleagues, mainly influence satisfaction in the office. Regarding work satisfaction, however, the office currently lags behind work from home. Currently, only three out of five respondents are satisfied in the office. Sixty-one percent of respondents work productively in the office, which is less than with work from home.

- Influence of stress management options

Stress management also currently seems to be a challenge in the office for many respondents. Significant positive correlations occur between hours worked in the office and burnout and boreout, meaning that a higher number of hours worked in the office is related to higher boredom and stress, and vice versa.

3) The role of third places

In particular, young employees aged 26–40 years are already working in coworking spaces. More than half of the respondents with experience in third places can be assigned to Generation Y.

One of the primary purposes of coworking spaces is to maximise the benefits of coworker interaction. Innovative, collaborative work and social exchange are the main focus. The results show that it is primarily the social perspective and, thus, the core idea of a coworking space that is perceived by half of the users. Around 33% of respondents consider it useful to go to a coworking space from an ecological perspective and 28% from a financial perspective.

The potential of coworking spaces has not yet been fully exploited. One reason is the lack of experience working in coworking spaces. However, demand could increase in the future without restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic as more employees use these work-spaces. Already, the results show that of those respondents with experience in coworking spaces, one in two can imagine working there in the future. Forty-four percent can also imagine that working with people from outside their field in coworking spaces is enriching, and 45% can imagine working there creatively and innovatively.

One challenge associated with working in coworking spaces is the risk of inefficiency. Around 40% of respondents fear that working there is associated with inefficiencies. However, this assessment could also be linked to the nature of work in the coworking space: communicative activities and creative exchange may be perceived as less productive in the true sense, i.e. as a feeling of 'having done something', but are not less important.

Workation, or location-flexible work in which the areas of work and vacation merge, plays a unique role. The motive of integrating life and work through workation seems to be a goal of the current society and life phase, which will also be of interest to many employees in the future (72%). Of the respondents with experience in third places, 50% already have experience with workation. Of those, 60% do workation to increase their life satisfaction. The goal of one in four respondents is to achieve a work goal during workation. One in four spends their workation in their vacation or second home. The survey makes it clear that a large number aspire to gain experience with this unusual work location model for the future.

Private social relations benefit from multi-local work

As already indicated, there is enormous potential for the social life of office workers. It is no coincidence that the greatest motivation for those surveyed to continue to work from home or to engage in workation is the resulting improved compatibility of life and work.

- Work-life integration

Work–life balance becomes work–life integration. A certain softening of the boundaries between the spheres of life is apparently explicitly desired as the example of workation shows. Quite fundamentally, the shift towards multi-local working with more work from home offers the potential for expanding private social relationships; after all, more space is available for them.

- Isolation

The downside, the threat of isolation at the home office, can be countered by transforming it into a true multi-location, where employees can choose their workplace according to their needs. If the office becomes a place of encounter and communication, then there are also opportunities for exchange.

The question remains open as to how the change in the world of work towards multi-local working will affect employees' relationships with their companies.

- Willingness to terminate

The intention of around one-quarter of respondents to quit makes it clear that office workers are serious about the demand for mobile working. This also means that the form of work is becoming more important than the employer for whom this work is performed. Work itself is not the centre of employees' lives. Work–life integration is an essential goal for employees, especially to maximise the benefits of their private lives and reduce the "disruptive" influence of work. The debate about "quiet quitting", which is being conducted primarily in the United States, is an expression of the same change in mentality in the minds of employees.

Relationships with the company change and trigger an urgent need for action

Against this background, managers not only face the challenge of "leadership at a distance" but must also deal with their employees all the more sensitively in the process. Employee management must be rethought and suitable organisational structures must be formed for the multi-local working world. The remaining channels must be used all the more intensively. If the respondents indicate that the corporate office should primarily be a place of communication within the teams in the future, then managers must seize this opportunity. Last but not least, another motivation to work in the office could be personal development, e.g. young people, who are still at the beginning of their careers still want to acquire the necessary expertise for completing their tasks through exchanges with colleagues. Decisionmakers' perceptions could also be part of the personal career calculus of younger office workers in particular. So companies will probably have to face up to the solidifying situation of multi-local working, adapt themselves and formulate suitable framework conditions that meet the needs of everyone, including those with a need for communication in the office. At the same time, there are indications that a certain degree of self-regulation within the workforce ensures that teams continue to come together at the company location as well. To be sure, there are still many unanswered questions about the design of organisation, leadership and communication in a multi-local working world.

Self-organisation in teams: How is the conflict of interests among employees managed?

The high dispersion of remotely capable work tasks illustrates the varying degrees to which mobile work is possible. This can lead to conflicts of interest among employees. Therefore, on the one hand, it is necessary to clarify at a higher level whether employees who can work remotely to a lesser extent should receive some form of compensation, for example, monetary compensation. On the other hand, conflicts can arise at the team level because work processes can be more challenging to carry out due to the different work locations or communication losses can occur. Multi-location work can also intensify challenges between employees and managers if it leads to management or control problems. By creating suitable regulations, it must be ensured that there is no imbalance between individual and team success.

The question of cost coverage of multi-local work remains unresolved so far

Last but not least, employees and their representatives are faced with the question of who should bear the costs of increased working from home and other locations. First of all, it is necessary to clarify what costs are incurred by working from home or other locations and how the amount of the costs compare to the costs incurred by working in the office. It could be assumed, for example, that the more mobile equipment and technical facilities of the home office the more intensive use of one's own home with resulting higher electricity, water and heat consumption, and the possibly necessary provision of living space to set up the home office and additional costs for home workers. This is balanced by the fact that commuting is no longer necessary, which is a frequently cited advantage of work from home in other contexts, resulting in cost savings.

This study is not suitable for quantifying the costs incurred by office workers. However, it does provide some initial indications. For example, around 40% of respondents say that their companies have not provided them with the equipment they need to work from home. The proportion of those who state that their employer does not cover any of the costs incurred with work from home is roughly the same. Only one in ten respondents report that they have been reimbursed for the cost of an Internet connection at home or energy costs. This suggests that office workers actually incur additional costs due to the increased use of work from home. This assumption is supported by the fact that half of the respondents state that they want to work more in the office again to save on home heating costs, probably in consideration of the current energy crisis.

The example of the motivation to go to the office to save on heating costs at home shows the presumably low willingness of employees to pay higher costs for working from home themselves. This is hardly surprising given the fact that while respondents spend on average about one-third of their disposable income on housing costs, at the same time more than two out of five respondents have to spend more than 33% of their income. From the employees' point of view, clarifying how costs are covered is thus still an open issue. Although around onethird of respondents state that employees are responsible for bearing the costs arising from increasing work from home, the majority of respondents (62%) demand that any potential cost savings from the expansion of mobile working should not be realised at the expense of employees and, consequently, want their employer to provide financial support for ancillary costs. Forty percent of respondents even want the employer to pay part of the rental costs, for example, for the necessary office at home. From the employees' point of view, it must therefore be clarified who will assume the costs incurred when working from home. They see a specific responsibility in this regard on the part of employers. In the future, employee representatives should work to ensure that potential productivity gains for companies through multi-local work are not generated on the backs of employees. Given the willingness to change employers documented in this study if mobile working is not implemented (satisfactorily), employers and politicians should take this demand seriously. This probably also applies to the assumption of costs incurred by working in coworking spaces.

5.3 Lessons learned for employers and corporate real estate management Used correctly, multi-local work is a great asset for companies

In the context of introducing the multi-local workspace concept, each company needs to weigh up, from an operational perspective, the extent to which employees are granted freedom in their choice of work location. To be able to make this decision in a well-founded manner, it is essential to bring transparency to the opportunities and risks. The results of this study provide a benchmark of the average advantages and disadvantages that can be used as a basis for weighing up the options.

1) Potentials

On average, multi-local working offers great potential for the success of companies.

- Work success and health of employees

The results of this study show a clear positive correlation between the individual level of job satisfaction of employees, the impact of working from home on the work productivity of individuals and their decision to choose home as a place to work. The positive
correlation between work from home and lower burnout also argues for expanding mobile work as this reduces sickness statistics. Consequently, the higher work success of employees also positively affects the company's success. This result is remarkable since there is per se no original conflict between employers and employees in the matter of work from home, but on the contrary, the free decision about the suitable place of work brings positive effects for both sides.

- Corporate loyalty

Another aspect of expanding multi-local work is strengthening the employer brand. The results show that the joy at the freedom gained goes so far that one in four is prepared to change employer for the opportunity of location-flexible working. The expansion of the concept of multi-local working is therefore highly relevant both for retaining existing employees and for better positioning in recruiting new employees.

2) Challenges

It is important to keep a close eye on some of the negative effects of multi-local work to be able to take targeted countermeasures on the part of the company.

- Corporate culture and loyalty

On the downside, there is the risk of a softening corporate culture due to employees being dispersed to different work locations. If employees are unable to achieve the necessary work-related communication through virtual tools, or if social exchange suffers, then this can also reduce company loyalty.

- Communication

Multi-local work can also make communication more difficult. The first study's results already showed that employees value personal contact and social relationships at the office and perceive them as supportive. Communication with work colleagues in the office can only be replaced virtually to a limited extent, which is why it is urgently recommended that the office or third places, such as coworking spaces, be maintained as a place of gathering, exchange and togetherness in the concept of multi-local work as well, or that the workplace strategy be rescheduled accordingly. Joint workation as an offsite event, as experienced by 10% of respondents with workation experience, can also positively counteract this challenge of loss of communication and corporate culture.

- Leadership and control of employees

The last possible challenge of multi-local work is assumed to be problems in the leadership and control of teams, i.e. in middle management. Finally, two possible approaches are pointed out. Those are relevant for companies to actively identifying the individual strategy to be chosen by the respective company. An employee survey conducted within the company and focus group discussions can help identify the exact needs of the company's employees. In this way, the optimal level and appropriate design of the multi-local workspace concept can be developed beyond the benchmark provided.

Companies cannot simply let multi-local work happen but must develop an individual strategy

From the perspective of the current working world, the potential of work from home has not yet been exploited. Currently, respondents say they work 43% of their weekly hours from home although their desire for the future is a share of 59%. In contrast, the proportion working from the office looks the opposite where, currently, 51% of weekly working time is spent but only 33% is desired.

The ability to work on the move plays a vital role in the war for talent. This is because the proportion of employees willing to quit is even higher, especially among younger respondents. Companies that do not offer the option of mobile working risk losing out in the battle for skilled workers. However, the equality of interests between employees and employers has reached its limits, for example, regarding the spatial factors of the place of work and the workplace's equipment.

To show which strategy management in companies should strive for in order to reduce obstacles, which strategic adjustments the operational organisation needs and how the HR strategy could be adapted, the four most significant areas for action identified in this study are shown below:

1) Invest in equipment to promote successful mobile work for employees when working from home.

Around 40% of the study participants have not yet received the equipment needed to work from home from their employer. In addition, for 38%, employers have not contributed to the cost of work from home. For one in three, the furniture is not adequate. In addition, around 15% of respondents do not have a sufficiently reliable and fast Internet connection at home. For some employees, these diverse deficiencies result in low satisfaction and limited productivity when working from home. And although just 40% of respondents say they have complete information and communications technology equipment at home, many employees manage to work at home more successfully and with higher quality. These startling results nevertheless make it clear that improved equipment for the workforce is necessary and that an investment in it will certainly pay off in terms of even greater success for employees and the company.

2) Improve information culture and create training opportunities to educate employees to the required extent.

In addition to the inadequate equipment to date, there is a lack of important information on the part of employees regarding working from home. Sixty-six percent of those surveyed had not been sufficiently instructed by their employer about the necessary requirements for an ergonomic workplace design at home. Only one in two employees has a separate study at home, hopefully with a suitable desk and chair while the other half work in a dedicated area of the home, perhaps at the kitchen table, on the sofa or out of bed; hence, better ergonomic training is needed to support healthy and safe mobile working. For as many as 26% of employees, the employer has recommended at least one checklist to assess working conditions in their home for use. These results paint a frightening picture of the information culture and educational efforts on work from home by employers, where there is an urgent need for improvement. This topic is also already being intensely discussed in the context of the emerging regulatory framework for mobile work on the part of the Ministry of Labour in order to develop suitable solutions.

There is also an urgent need for improvement in specific training on dealing with mobile working issues and technology support for location-flexible work. Employee demand exceeds supply in both areas by as much as 12 percentage points in the case of continuing education offerings. In addition to improving the equipment of the workforce, companies should also invest in the employees themselves. They want to be empowered to survive in the mobile world of work and pay back to the company with tremendous success at work.

3) To give the possibility of flexible choice of work location to increase the work success of employees and the company's attractiveness.

In addition to higher satisfaction and productivity with work from home, i.e. an increase in work success, it became clear from the results that there is also a positive correlation with employees' health when working at home. The more hours provided with work from home the lower the expression of stress and boredom. Greater freedom for employees to choose to work from home subsequently ensures fewer sick days and protects against mental illness due to absenteeism. Accordingly, in the interests of employees, employees and legislators

should strive for regulations that allow a high degree of freedom in choosing a suitable location. Due to the high willingness of almost a quarter of those surveyed to give notice if they are not allowed to work flexibly in terms of location and time, companies also almost have to offer a multi-location workspace concept if they want to remain competitive in the fight for the best talent in the future. Companies are, therefore, better positioned in the worsening shortage of skilled workers if they are open to mobile working. After all, a pleasant working atmosphere and a better work–life balance—both goals that can be achieved through mobile working—are also important reasons for changing jobs (Randstad 2021).

Current trends in strategic success research show that soft success factors around corporate culture and corporate identity are becoming increasingly decisive in global competition. On the one hand, constantly changing competitive challenges demand effective concepts with which companies can differentiate themselves from their competitors. In the battle for the best-skilled workers, only companies that reflect the general conditions of social change in their corporate culture in the best possible way can survive. As do marketing-related factors, production- and technology-related factors take a back seat. In a concept of multi-local work-places, real estate and the physical collaboration that takes place in it thus become some of the potentially most important management tools for corporate management. The prerequisite, however, is that something changes in the current office planning to increase the employees' work success and motivate them to return to the office more often in the future. In increasingly fluid organisational structures, realising such culture-driven potential has been more difficult. But even with the knowledge of all these uncertainties, the goal of employers is and will remain to strive for attractive, competitive employment conditions.

Last but not least, it increases corporate attractiveness if the growing trend of workation is allowed and encouraged in companies. More than two-thirds of those surveyed who have already had the experience of working at third places are interested in doing workation in the future. Enabling workation is beneficial for companies to satisfy their employees or strengthen their employer brand as well as for the company's success. This is because one in four respondents with workation experience decided to do so in order to achieve a specific work goal.

4) Mastering the balancing act between individual and team success.

The results make it clear that multi-local work thrives on individual freedom of choice to select the place of work according to one's needs and the possibility of most successful work performance. Ultimately, a balance between freedom and leadership should be sought between employers and employees in which both work from home is extended as far as satisfaction and productivity gains are achieved, but the office or third places are also used for employee communication and collaboration. Operational processes must not be disrupted by distributed work. If the relationship tips and the absence of individuals reduce the company's success, then a line is crossed at which companies should intervene. If there is a danger that the proportion of work done at home by individuals will reach the limit of their remote capabilities, then it will presumably no longer be possible to complete the work there successfully. Consequently, either the proportion of remote-capable activities would then have to increase by adapting working methods, or it would have to be ensured that the proportion of work from home does not exceed the limits of what is possible. In addition, from the company's point of view, it is crucial to keep an eye on the perspective of successful group or project work. As long as digital tools promote work delivery and no physical interaction becomes necessary, company management can keep the degree of freedom of choice of the work location high. However, if deficiencies arise in teamwork or communication, it is essential to define joint regulations in the company's interests.

Multi-local work changes the need for operational real estate

At present, the framework conditions for future work are highly uncertain. This uncertainty must be taken into account in the future planning of the provision of operational real estate. At the present time, no one can give a clear answer to the pressing question of possible qualitative, quantitative and location-related changes in demand. However, based on the empirical results, an initial quantity balance will be drawn up to check which aspects argue for more and which for less space. In addition, a look will be taken at the qualities of space required in the future and demanded by employees. In addition to the question of whether and, if so, how workplace quality can be improved, the topic of (non-)territorial workspace design will also be discussed in connection with the suitability of different office forms. The aim of this study at the site is to use the survey results of office employees to provide a basis for decision-making on how future workplace design can be carried out in a multi-local working environment.

1) Quantitative adjustments - a quantity balance for decision support.

In some companies, the failure of employees to return to the office since the COVID-19 pandemic is currently reducing floor space requirements. An answer to the reasonableness of this approach goes beyond the study's results because the focus of the survey is the employees' perspective. Thus, no all-encompassing picture of the situation can be represented by the data. However, some results are presented below that balance the argumentation.

Arguing for space savings:

- Low frequency of use of office space

First, the continuing high proportion of work from home speaks in favour of a reduction in floor space. A comparison of the results from the two studies in 2021 and 2023 does not yet suggest that employees will want to return to their offices completely in the near future. Third places, which are still at a relatively low level, could also become more attractive as the pandemic subsides. Working in coworking spaces, particularly, is valued from a social perspective. It could serve as a substitute for traditional office space if used correctly and integrated into companies' workplace strategies.

- Cost savings in maintenance and operation

From an economic perspective, companies hope to achieve cost savings in the maintenance and operation of real estate by saving space. Especially in times of high energy prices, this is an aspect that should not be neglected.

- Even distribution without overload peaks

Furthermore, the empirical results of this study show that employees report the probability of an office visit to be the same for almost all days of the week. Except for Friday, an approximately equal distribution of office visit days can be expected and there is no need to worry about overload peaks. Particularly with the long-term prospect of a fourday week, the data do not speak in favour of holding back an unnecessarily large amount of space and leaving it empty. Around 41% of the employees offer the companies restraint because they already give as a reason for continuing to work less in the office that they would like to contribute to climate protection by not having to operate and maintain unnecessary space. This is another aspect that speaks for a reduction in office space.

- Leveraging employee readiness for new office concepts

At present, 69% of respondents say they have a fixed workstation in the form of a cubicle office. However, if employees are asked about their willingness to forego a fixed

workstation in the company, just under 60% are open to doing so if, in return, they are also allowed to work in a flexible location in addition to their work in the office. According to the data, such an adjustment would not entail any risk of lower work success as satisfaction in the office does not differ between desk sharing and fixed workplaces, depending on the office concept. The willingness to adopt non-territorial office concepts can be used to provide functional workspaces in the office, even if space is reduced.

Arguments against saving space:

- Qualitative space adjustments require spacious floor plans

At present, the most common type of office is the shared office for 2–3 employees (39%) followed by the single office with 22%. Around 69% of respondents state that they currently have a permanently assigned workstation; at the same time, 78% say they prefer to do concentrated individual work and desk work (58%) at home. The offices of the future should offer space for communicative collaboration, exchange and collaborative work. These activities, in particular, may require spacious areas to still be able to separate from other groups and work together undisturbed. The social exchange also needs meeting areas if it is to occur in an unconstrained manner.

The first study in 2021 showed that the garden, terrace and balcony, in particular, improve the success of working from home. The results of the 2023 survey show that 84% of respondents who live in the countryside or a village are productive when working from home compared to only 66% living in the city centre. So why not integrate more nature into the office by creating open spaces where employees can work or enjoy the sun and fresh air during downtime and breaks?

This second study showed that employees would go to work in their office more often if they could use the sports facilities there. In the qualitative further development of offices, it may also be advisable to include a yoga or multi-functional sports room, for example.

The above examples offer just a few starting points for how companies can make their offices more attractive for the future. Generally, it becomes clear that even by breaking up rigid cell structures and creating open floor plans, a spacious overall footprint may still be necessary.

- Improved office qualities may lead to increased return to the office

Satisfaction with work from home is higher on average than with office-based work. Spatial factors influence office satisfaction by 32%. Once the idea is pursued that future offices will receive a qualitative upgrade by being more specifically oriented to the personalities and needs of the employees of each company, satisfaction could increase. The results of this study show that satisfaction, health and productivity are higher in work from home; hence, most respondents want to work more in this work location. Work success and personalities are also key reasons for choosing a work location. If success at work increases due to improved offices, then an increase in the use of the offices can be expected. In the medium term, this higher frequency would also mean that more space would be required; hence, companies need to weigh carefully whether they should reduce their space.

- Strengthening employer branding

The design of offices is said to have an increasing influence on employer branding campaigns. Attractive, employee-focused spaces can help attract young talent to a company. In this regard, large spacious offices with additional offerings, such as open spaces or sports rooms, probably outperform smaller ones with less space. If the office is seen as a meeting place, this is often followed by a strengthened team feeling and the frequency of office use increases as shown in the study data.

- High dynamics of the working world can change framework conditions of knowledge work in the medium term

The rapid development of technical innovations partly drives uncertainty about the working world of tomorrow. Due to the possibilities of carrying out certain activities with the help of AI as well as uncertainty about the speed of the changes in the organisation of work, it is not possible at present to predict the extent to which external influences will affect the world of work. By cutting back on areas at the current time, flexibility in the future scope of action for responding to developments will be restricted.

2) Qualitative adjustments make it possible to improve the usefulness of offices.

Above a certain proportion of work from home, the question quickly arises as to the whereabouts and usefulness of offices. But the results clearly show that office space continues to be needed on average for just under half of the tasks because they cannot be done on the move. However, the qualitative status quo of offices and their impact on work success and health show a staggering result. Current office real estate often does not seem to meet the needs of employees. One in five is dissatisfied with their office, regardless of age. Moreover, stress and boredom correlate with more hours worked in the office. Massive pressure to act and the failure to transform offices are becoming apparent.

- Investment in offices can generate work success for employees

For the future, investments in office real estate to improve their qualities seem indispensable to enable work success. Currently, 39% of respondents state that they cannot work productively in their office. This group tends to comprise the older respondents. Satisfaction in the office is determined first and foremost by social conditions, e.g. team composition and relationships with superiors and colleagues. The study results show that office satisfaction does not depend on the office concept (desk sharing or fixed workstation). The type of office—whether cellular or shared space—also has a minor influence on satisfaction.

- Redesign of spatial structures

Accordingly, a rethinking of office design and spatial structures may become necessary. Today, the office is seen more than ever as a place of social exchange. Interactive and collaborative work is at the forefront of the activities to be performed there. More than half of employees (54%) also cite the easier exchange with colleagues as a reason they would consider returning to the office. Facilitated communication is the main incentive for office use. At least half of the employees would like to come to the office for communicative and collaborative activities such as meetings, short conversations, teamwork or informal exchanges.

However, the present study suggests what experts confirm when reflecting on the results: the available spaces are often not suitable for this purpose.

- Enable collaboration and exchange

Offices with new concepts of use that promote collaboration could become more attractive and increase the frequency of use in changing work processes, with more teamwork or, for example, a higher degree of agile work. The results show that the greater the autonomy, adaptability and resilience of employees the lower their incidence of burnout. All aspects of agile working are also significantly negatively related to boreout. Particularly from the sub-aspect of agile working, team awareness has an incredibly high impact on office work success. An improved potential of offices through qualitatively suitable areas, which successfully enable teamwork, becomes the trump card of companies in an increasingly agile and interactive working world. All in all, a qualitative transformation of office space is inevitable. Rebound effects to conditions as in the time before the pandemic are currently not foreseeable, also in the view of experts. Supplementary offers in gastronomy (32%), for childcare (27%) or sports courses (24%) can be created as further qualitative incentives for employees. Ultimately, the qualitative office planning of each company should be geared towards its employees; there are no blanket solutions. The data make it clear that in addition to the activity to be performed in the office, planning should in future be based much more on the personalities of the employees if companies are interested in their employees returning to the office. New utilisation concepts must be developed individually and balanced according to constructional possibilities and economic security. At the same time, the design of the offerings offers opportunities to convey the company's corporate culture. Especially in dynamic and uncertain times, it is crucial to maintain a high degree of flexibility.

3) Third places as complements to office strategy allow companies flexibility in space provision to remain reactive in a dynamic work environment.

The world of work is subject to various external influences such as demographic change with a decreasing labour supply, technological innovations, climate change and increasing need for environmental sustainability, changes in value and work culture and changes in the framework conditions of knowledge work through AI-supported software. Even if the results and implications of the study clearly represent the needs of employees for the present time of observation and indicate that work from home has found its place in the world of work and that the concept of multi-local work should be conventionalised, it remains uncertain what further need for adaptation for the design of working environments will be triggered by the high dynamics in the future.

The study results suggest a need for real estate changes due to the significantly higher satisfaction and productivity at work from home compared to the office. This is because despite the current lower level of work success in the office, on average, only slightly more than half of employees' tasks can be completed on the move. So, too, in the future, there will be a need for office space that can be adapted as flexibly as possible to changing requirements.

Employees' experiences with coworking spaces lead to the conclusion that the available spaces only partially fulfil their function as a place for social exchange or that too few employees have already worked in third places to gain experience. These hurdles must be addressed in the future if coworking spaces are to become a genuine alternative to work from home and the office. So far, these spaces are partial substitutes rather than alternatives in a multi-local work environment. However, they offer an opportunity to access more or less space than that of a company's own office properties in a relatively flexible manner, depending on demand.

For example, entire spaces or individual workstations can be rented in coworking spaces. Companies could also convert part of their own space into a coworking space so that the income generated by renting out workstations reduces operating costs, the space is more frequented again and additional added value is created for employees through exchanging information across company boundaries.

Alternatively, some providers of third places already offer the possibility of a type of membership that justifies the use of shared workspaces. By financing such memberships, companies could provide third workplaces for their employees in line with their needs and transfer the complete organisation to the individual users.

In the future, coworking spaces will offer employees even more functions if they are used appropriately. Spaces close to home can positively contribute to climate protection if they shorten commutes that would otherwise be made by car, or eliminate them altogether by switching to bicycles. Third places, such as coworking spaces, could also be an alternative for employees whose homes do not offer the opportunity for successful work.

Not only work from home but also the trend to combine vacation with work to do workation changes the spatial integration of life and work of employees. By supporting and further developing existing workation offerings, companies are opening up more popular work locations for their employees, which will reduce the required office space to a small extent.

Multi-local work requires not only a strategic adjustment but also a planned operational-tactical change process

1) Involve employees

The study results clearly show that employees demand to be included in change management processes to redesign workspace strategies. At present, only half of the respondents can influence the design of mobile work in their company or participate in developing targets for the organisation of work from home in their companies. The possibility of exerting influence depends, on the one hand, on position and, on the other hand, the company's size. Sixty percent of respondents in very small companies have the opportunity to influence the targets for organising mobile work. Only 38% of respondents in large companies have this opportunity. At the same time, around three out of four would like to be involved in the design of

location- and time-flexible working. But how can companies involve their employees in the process towards a concept of multi-local work?

A first option is to involve employees in selecting places offered for flexible working. More than 70% of respondents would also like to be involved in developing regulations and the implementation process.

2) Shape the New Normal

Adjustments need to be made in a structured and thoughtful way to utilise the potential of multi-locality for the employer in the best way. Still, for employers, the urgent question is how to make multi-local work successful in times of high dynamism. To summarise once again, freedom of choice of work location enables greater job satisfaction and productivity among employees. In addition, absenteeism is reduced because employees can choose the work location where they are healthy, less stressed and not bored. It is also clear that respondents achieve better work-life integration when they can do work from home. Thus, the ability to work in a location-flexible manner could possibly also lead to an increase in the workforce by making part-time work easier or enabling longer working lives. One thing is certain: companies can only retain their employees and attract new talent if they promote mobile working, which 46% of respondents perceive as the 'new normal'. This is because 87% of those surveyed are not prepared to make any compromises as they need to continue to work flexibly in the future. At the same time, companies are strengthening their employer brand in this way. Based on the results, the first recommendation for action is that job success and personal preferences are the most decisive reasons for employees' choice of work location: labour and legislators should offer employees the most excellent possible and required freedom of choice when selecting their place of work.

3) Expand support services

Another recommendation for action relates to the need articulated by the respondents for more support offerings for mobile working in general and technical support, which currently exists only inadequately in the companies. By communicating directly with their employees, companies can identify their needs and further increase mobile work success through improved training opportunities.

4) Create individual solutions

Furthermore, the results clearly show that strict requirements affecting the entire company with regard to the design of mobile work are counterproductive. Only 18% of respondents said that changes to the rules governing the choice of work location should be made uniformly for the entire company. In contrast, 39% of respondents consider it sensible to make decisions per team or organisational unit and 43% even prefer individual regulations. Companies are therefore advised to set the level of decision-making as close to the individual level as possible. Through an initial exchange within the teams, it can be analysed whether the advantages of an individual regulation outweigh the disadvantages of the effort for the respective company and organisational unit. In the same process, it can be useful to discuss the organisation of employees on the team or project level to define common regulations/rules of the game that allow smooth cooperation despite multi-local locations.

5) Improve work from home equipment

As part of a planned change process, companies must also regulate the involvement of employers in the design of work from home for employees. As the study data show, there is an urgent need for action regarding equipping work from home workplaces. Currently, less than half of employees have a complete workstation compared to their office. The furniture and equipment necessary for information and communication technologies are inadequate for many. To guarantee good work success at home in the long term and promote employees' health, their goodwill should not be overstretched in terms of their willingness to make concessions for acquisition and maintenance costs.

The results of this study encourage us to trust employees and involve them in shaping the working world of tomorrow. Regulations involving employees should be created and communicated politically and within the company. The core element should be the highest possible degree of freedom in deciding where to work to achieve success for employees and companies.

5.4 Lessons learned for real estate stakeholders

Changing space requirements necessitate adjustments to the business models and strategies of real estate industry players

The fundamental change in the world of work with a qualitative and possibly quantitative change in the demand for office properties inevitably impacts the other players in the real estate industry such as project developers, investors and financiers. At the same time, the transformation can be seen as a challenge and an opportunity to develop their own companies further, especially when opening up new business areas and asset classes. These opportunities and challenges will now be examined.

The overarching question of project development: What is the office of the future?

For project developers, the question arises as to which areas they should still develop in the future. What office space will still be in demand in the future? How should floor plans be designed? Are the interests of companies and employees congruent if employees mainly want to work in cellular offices? What structural measures can be taken to promote communication in the office? Which locations will be in demand in the future? What makes work from home attractive and how can this be transferred to office planning? What are the implications for the residential asset class?

1) Involvement of the users

Project developers probably cannot answer these questions on their own. This makes contact with the potential tenants of their properties all the more critical. While previous studies have already established that the transformation of the real estate industry will be geared primarily to user needs (Pfnür and Wagner, 2018), this is truer today than ever. Thus, against the new backdrop of mobile working, the individual requirements of corporates for office space must be considered in the design even more than before so that they can provide space that promotes communication in the individual corporate context according to their ideas. In addition, however, the ability of the space to be used by third parties, as demanded by the capital market, must not be disregarded. The challenge for project developers is, therefore, to satisfy increasingly individual customer wishes as far as possible while at the same time meeting the requirements of standardisation. This question of balancing conflicting interests to a certain extent can probably only be answered on a case-by-case basis, i.e. depending on the building-related or rental agreement circumstances, for example.

2) Further development of coworking spaces

With the presumably increasing importance of coworking spaces, this segment may offer the potential for further development of the product range of project developers. Therefore, offers to coworking operators may have to be considered even more significant than today in neighbourhood projects or the development of mixed-use properties. Project developers are also faced with office properties that may no longer be required for their original use. Do new business opportunities possibly present themselves here as well? For example, many major cities have a considerable shortage of residential space. It would therefore be worth examining the extent to which office properties that are no longer needed could be put to new use, for example, in the form of residential buildings.

3) Extend the field of vision to the area of housing.

In general, the expansion of mobile working could lead to lasting changes in the requirements for residential real estate. The previous study from 2021 already showed that the success of working from home is also significantly influenced by the spatial conditions. Accordingly, planning a study room or technical equipment suitable for working from home could meet with demand among office employees, presumably making it easier to separate work and home life, for example. At the same time, other studies indicate that the demand for living space is shifting to other locations, namely, peripheral locations in the countryside (Pfnür et al., 2022). An expansion of work from home allows office workers with this desire to work in locations more remote from corporate offices. It is thus an enabler for the new housing desires of broader population segments. Project developers must adapt to these desires and adjust their offerings accordingly.

Investment in office real estate

From the perspective of office property investors, the results may not be surprising at first glance due to the documented restraint of corporates on the rental market but they are also no less dramatic. For them, the downsizing of office portfolios by up to 30% means that huge assets are up for grabs. Properties stranded due to changing user demands must be dealt with.

Office property investors will therefore have to examine their portfolios closely to determine the future viability of their investment properties. Pressure is looming not only from sustainability regulation but also very specifically from their customers, whose demand will focus on a specific type of office property. This study indicates that the future office property will be utility-maximising buildings that reinforce team communication. At this point, no statements can be made about the exact design. It is even questionable whether a 'one size fits all' approach will meet the high demands of different companies in their search for office space: The results suggest that the qualitative and quantitative demands placed on office space differ not only at the employee level but also from company to company on an individual basis. The exact demands of users on office real estate must be further illuminated in subsequent studies. To a certain extent, individuality demands can still be reconciled with the third-party usability required for the capital market through flexible building design. Nevertheless, higher costs could be associated with the higher demands of customers despite the background of increased rents. Investors may have an even greater interest in long-term leasing relationships with their clients over which this expense pays off. However, this could stand in the way of corporates' demands for flexibility. Outstanding client relationship management thus seems inevitable for successful investments in office properties.

On the other hand, the increased interest in work from home or in coworking spaces also offers potential; for example, apartments suitable for work from home must be offered and space must also be available for coworking spaces. This offers opportunities for investors to position themselves. Nevertheless, all-in-all, an extremely challenging market environment is revealed for real estate investors. Many investors are competing for a small number of attractive properties on the one hand while facing reduced demand from corporates on the other. At the same time, they have to identify office properties without prospects in their portfolios and try to preserve the assets tied up in them by selling or converting them. In a market environment that is already challenging, they have to be even more precise in their calculations. Long-term value-creation partnerships with developers and corporates appear to be the only effective means of countering these challenges.

5.5 Lessons learned for others

Effects of multi-local work on urban land use planning

Regional and municipal urban land use planning faces various challenges caused by the expansion of mobile working. Thus, it, too, must deal with the question of how to deal with office properties that are no longer needed. Because vacancies also negatively impact property boundaries, this is a pressing challenge for regional planning. Together with project developers, the legal framework for individually suitable solutions must be created in the form of corresponding urban land use planning. For the designation of areas for office use, urban land use planning faces the challenge of identifying suitable locations, i.e. locations for which office use is still a possibility.

Changing design needs in (inner) cities

Quite fundamentally, cities already have to deal with the question of how they can make their city centres more attractive again. Against the backdrop of the present study, the role that office use plays in this must be discussed meticulously. How is the decline of downtown corporate office work affecting the centres? What demands do office users place on their office and its surroundings? For example, this study indicates that additional offers such as childcare close to the workplace or attractive catering establishments can create incentives for more intensive office use, even in the mobile working world. To realise any potential, such offers in the vicinity of office properties are, therefore, suitable levers for increasing their frequency of use and, thus, revitalising city centres. The challenge in the context of inner-city development is, therefore, to offer an attractive environment for the location of office work.

Infrastructure and climate protection

Last but not least, the increase in working from home could also positively impact efforts to combat climate change thanks to the elimination of commuting times. A decrease in commuting could also relieve some pressure on the transport infrastructure. Nevertheless, this study shows that public infrastructure also faces challenges: The 15 percent of office workers who do not have an adequate Internet connection at home for mobile work are likely to be not only frustrated but also more dissatisfied and limited in their quality of life. Less productive work also results in an economic disadvantage that damages Germany as a business location.

5.6 Uncertainty about the working world of tomorrow

The results and implications of the study are precise for the present time of consideration. Work from home has found its place in the world of work and multi-local work should be conventionalised.

However, it is also essential to take into account the highly dynamic nature of this trend, which could lead to a further increase in mobile work in the medium to long term or despite an increase in the proportion of tasks that can be performed remotely, to the opposite effect with a renewed increase in office use. A variety of influences determines the course of events. First and foremost, the world of work is subject to external influences such as demographic change with a declining labour supply, technical innovations, climate change/environmental sustainability, changes in the culture of values and work and changes in the framework

conditions of work, which trigger further adaptation requirements for the design of working environments.

In particular, the explosive topic of the digital transformation of working environments should be highlighted again. Technological developments, such as AI-supported software (e.g. ChatGPT, robotics), fundamentally change knowledge work. Employees will increasingly have different work-related framework conditions of work and seek a different physical organisation of their work. Conceptual work will increase and require more significant interaction if necessary because the software will take over standard processes. However, it remains uncertain whether this will result in work increasingly taking place in the office or third places again as improvements in collaboration technology (e.g. augmented reality and further developments in the direction of metaverse) are making virtual collaboration easier and enabling ever better collaboration at multi-local work locations.

The impact that distributed workplaces will have on the future of the office and the distribution of work shares in each location is difficult to predict but what is clear is this: The world of work is undergoing significant change.

Bibliography

- Ahlers, E.; Mierich, S.; Zucco, A. (2021): Homeoffice: Was wir aus der Zeit der Pandemie für die zukünftige Gestaltung von Homeoffice lernen können, WSI Report, No. 65, Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaftliches Institut (WSI), Düsseldorf.
- Backfisch, A.; Ducki, A.; Borde, T. (2021): Arbeitsorte der Zukunft Gesundheitsfördernde Gestaltung von Coworking Spaces und Homeoffice. In: Badura, B., Ducki, A., Schröder, H., Meyer, M. (Eds.), Fehlzeiten-Report 2021. Fehlzeiten-Report, Vol. 2021. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-63722-7_19.
- Berg, A. (2022): New Work die neue Arbeitswelt nach der Pandemie. URL: https://www.bitkom.org/sites/main/files/2022-03/31.03.22 %20Bitkom-Charts%20New%20Work.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- **Berzel, A.; Schroeder, W. (2021):** Homeoffice eine Transformation der Arbeitswelt. Systematischer Überblick und Perspektiven der Gestaltung. Policy Paper – Arbeitsweltberichterstattung Hessen, No. 12.
- Blok M.; Groenesteijn L.; Van den Berg C.; Vink P. (2011): New Ways of Working: A Proposed Framework and Literature Review. In: Robertson, M.M. (Ed.), Ergonomics and Health Aspects of Work with Computers. EHAWC 2011. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 6779 (pp 3–12). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- BMAS (2023): Arbeit: Sicher und gesund. Mobile Arbeit. URL: https://www.arbeit-sicherund-gesund.de/politikwerkstatt-mobile-arbeit (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Bockstahler, M.; Jurecic, M.; Rief, S. (2022): Homeoffice Experience 2.0 Veränderungen, Entwicklungen und Erfahrungen zur Arbeit aus dem Homeoffice während der Corona-Pandemie. URL: https://doi.org/10.24406/iao-n-648588 (accessed 20 March 2023).
- **Bouncken, R. B.; Reuschl, A. J. (2018):** Coworking-spaces: how a phenomenon of the sharing economy builds a novel trend for the workplace and for entrepreneurship. Review of managerial science, 12, 317-334.
- By, R. T. (2005): Organisational change management: A critical review. Journal of change management, 5(4), 369–380.
- Cammann, C.; Fichman, M.; Jenkins, G. D.; Klesh, J. (1983): Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire. In Seashore, S. E. et al. (Eds.) Assessing Organizational Change: A Guide to Methods, Measures, and Practices, pp 71–138, Wiley, New York.
- **Capgemini (2022):** The People Experience Advantage. URL: https://prod.ucwe.capgemini.com/de-de/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2022/10/People-Experience-Research_Report_Web.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).

- **Cummins, R. A.; Gullone, E. (2000):** Why we should not use 5-point Likert scales: The case for subjective quality of life measurement. Second International Conference on Quality of Life in Cities, Singapore.
- DAK-Gesundheit (2021): Digitalisierung und Homeoffice in der Corona-Krise. URL: https://www.dak.de/dak/download/studie-2447824.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Destatis (2021): Haushalte nach Haushaltsgröße und Haushaltsmitgliedern. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Bevoelkerung/Haushalte-Familien/Tabellen/1-2-privathaushalte-bundeslaender.html (accessed 13 March 2023).
- Destatis (2022a): Bevölkerung und Erwerbstätigkeit: Erwerbs-beteiligung der Bevölkerung. Ergebnisse des Mikrozensus zum Arbeitsmarkt (Endgültige Ergebnisse). URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Arbeit/Arbeitsmarkt/Erwerbstaetigkeit/_inhalt.html#_sum9nttwa (accessed 13 March 2023).
- **Destatis (2022b):** Wöchentliche Arbeitszeit. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Arbeit/Arbeitsmarkt/Qualitaet-Arbeit/Dimension-3/woechentliche-arbeitszeitl.html (accessed 13 March 2023).
- Destatis (2023): Einkommen, Einnahmen und Ausgaben in den Gebietsständen. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Einkommen-Konsum-Lebensbedingungen/Einkommen-Einnahmen-Ausgaben/Tabellen/liste-gebietsstaende.html#115610 (accessed 13 March 2023).
- DGB (2021): Homeoffice im öffentlichen Dienst. URL: https://index-gute-arbeit.dgb.de/++co++bdb63706-5bf6-11eb-9ade-001a4a160123 (accessed 20 March 2023).
- DGB (2022): Arbeit der Zukunft im "Neuen Normal"? URL: https://index-gute-arbeit.dgb.de/++co++dc3cf5d2-e31a-11ec-ba36-001a4a160123 (accessed 20 March 2023).
- **Dolls, M.; Lay, M. (2023):** Wie wirken sich Homeoffice und steigende Wohnkostenbelastung auf die Wohnortwahl aus? Evidenz aus einer großangelegten Umfrage in Deutschland. Ifo Schnelldienst, 76(2), 37–42.
- Erdsiek, D. (2021): Hoemoffice nach Corona: Erwartete Nutzung steigt weiter. URL: https://www.zew.de/presse/pressearchiv/homeoffice-nach-corona-erwartete-nutzung-steigt-weiter (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Feinstein, I.; Habich, J.; Spilker, M. (2021): Home-Office und Unternehmenskultur. URL: https://www.bertelsmann-stiftung.de/de/unsere-projekte/fuehrungsdialoge/projektnachrichten/home-office-und-unternehmenskultur (accessed 20 March 2023).

- Flüter-Hoffmann, C.; Stettes, O. (2022): Homeoffice nach fast zwei Jahren Pandemie, IW-Report, No. 2, Köln.
- Frodermann, C.; Grunau, P.; Haas, G.; Müller, D. (2021): Homeoffice in Zeiten von Corona: Nutzung, Hindernisse und Zukunftswünsche, IAB-Kurzbericht, No. 05/2021, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung (IAB), Nürnberg.
- Gauger, F. (2021): New Work Environments: The Economic Relevance of Flexible Office Space. Dissertation. Technische Universität Darmstadt. DOI: 10.26083/tuprints-00019705.
- **Gauger, F.; Voll, K.; Pfnür, A. (2022):** Corporate Coworking Spaces Determinants of Work Satisfaction in Future Workspaces. Die Unternehmung, 76(1), 64–87.
- Gottschewski, P. O.; Auf der Landwehr, M.; von Viebahn, C.; Staritz, J. (2022): Decreasing Shopping Duration by Altering Choice Environments? An Empirical Investigation of Individual and Hybrid Nudges in the Context of e-Grocery. Wirtschaftsinformatik 2022 Proceedings. 18.
- Grunau, P.; Steffens, S.; Wolter, S. (2021): Forschungsbericht 589 Mobiles Arbeiten von zu Hause. URL: https://www.bmas.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Publikationen/Forschungsberichte/fb-589-mobiles-arbeiten-von-zu-hause.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=1 (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Hammermann, A.; Voigtländer, M. (2020): Bürobeschäftigte in Deutschland: Eine Regionalanalyse. IW-Trends-Vierteljahresschrift zur empirischen Wirtschaftsforschung 47(3), 61–78.
- Hofmann, J.; Piele A.; Piele, C. (2021): Arbeiten in der Corona-Pandemie. Folgeergebnisse. Ausgestaltung des »New Normal«. URL: https://www.dgfp.de/fileadmin/user_upload/DGFP_e.V/Medien/Publikationen/2021/DGFP-Arbeiten-Corona-Pandemie-Ausgestaltung-New_Normal-12-2021.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Höcker, M. C.; Bachtal, Y.; Pfnür, A. (2022): Work from home: bane or blessing? Implications for corporate real estate strategies, in: Zeitschrift für Immobilienökonomie, 8(2), 101–137.
- Internationale Hochschule (2022): Das neue normal? Homeoffice im check. URL: https://res.cloudinary.com/iubh/image/upload/v1653377255/stud-ies/Homeoffice_Check.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- JLL (2022): Future of Work 2022 Ergebnisse aus der globalen Nutzerbefragung. URL: https://www.jll.de/de/trends-and-insights/research/future-of-work-deutschland-2022 (accessed 20 March 2023).

- Kunze, F.; Zimmermann, S. (2022): Die Transformation zu einer hybriden Arbeitswelt : Ergebnisbericht zur Konstanzer Homeoffice Studie 2020-2022. URL: http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:352-2-ai5pzcioansj3 (accessed 20 March 2023).
- **Krupper, D. (2015):** Nutzerbasierte Bewertung von Büroimmobilien. In: Zeitschrift für Immobilienökonomie 1(1), 5–33. https://doi.org/10.1365/s41056-015-0001-y.
- Krzywdzinski, M. (2022): Zusammenarbeit und Produktivität im Team: Erfahrungen agiler, hybrider und traditioneller Teams im Homeoffice während der COVID-19- Pandemie, Weizenbaum Series, No. 27, Weizenbaum Institute for the Networked Society - The German Internet Institute, Berlin, https://doi.org/10.34669/WI.WS/27.
- Maslach, C.; Jackson, S. E.; Leiter, M. P.; Schaufeli, W. B.; Schwab; R. L. (1986): Maslach burnout inventory. Consulting psychologists press Palo Alto, CA.
- Moran, J. W.; Brightman, B. K. (2001): Leading organizational change, Career Development International, 6(2), 111–118.
- Morgan, N. A.; Rego, L. L. (2006): The Value of Different Customer Satisfaction and Loyalty Metrics in Predicting Business Performance. Marketing Science, 25(5), 426-439.
- Nijp, H.H.; Beckers, D.G.; Van de Voorde, K.; Geurts S.A; Kompier, M.A. (2016): Effects of New Ways of Working on Work Hours and Work Location, Health and Job-Related Outcomes. Chronobiology International, 33(6), 604–18.
- **Oldenburg, R. (1999):** The Great Good Place: Cafés, Coffee Shops, Bookstores, Bars, Hair Salons, and other Hangouts at the Heart of a Community. Cambridge: Da Capo Press.
- **Pfnür, A. (2019):** Herausforderungen des Corporate Real Estate Managements im Strukturwandel. Zentraler Immobilien Ausschuss (ZIA) e.V. (Ed.), Berlin.
- Pfnür, A. (2020): ZIA-CREM-Studie 2020 Die Rolle der öffentlichen Hand in der immobilienwirtschaftlichen Transformation deutscher Unternehmen. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 40, Technical University Darmstadt.
- Pfnür, A.; Bachtal, Y.; Voll, K.; Gauger, F. (2022): Ökologische Nachhaltigkeit als Treiber der Transformation des Wohnens in Deutschland – Empirische Studie bei privaten Haushalten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 45, Technical University Darmstadt.
- Pfnür, A.; Bachtal, Y.; Gauger, F. (2023): Work from home im Interessenkonflikt. Empirische Analyse veränderter Arbeitsorte und praktische Implikationen. WSI-Mitteilungen, 76(1), 38-45.
- Pfnür, A.; Gauger, F.; Bachtal, Y.; Wagner, B. (2021): Homeoffice im Interessenkonflikt. Ergebnisbericht einer empirischen Studie. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 41, Technical University Darmstadt.

- Pfnür, A.; Lachenmayer, F.; Bachtal, Y.; Voll, K. (2023): So wohnen wir in Zukunft: Wie der soziodemografische Wandel das Wohnen verändert – Empirische Studie bei privaten Haushalten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 49, Technical University Darmstadt.
- Pfnür, A.; Voll, K.; Bachtal, Y.; Lachenmayer, F. (2023): So wohnen wir in Zukunft: Wie die Digitalisierung das Wohnen verändert – Empirische Studie bei privaten Haushalten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 46, Technical University Darmstadt.
- **Pfnür, A.; Wagner, B. (2018):** Transformation der Immobilienwirtschaft Eine empirische Studie deutscher immobilienwirtschaftlicher Akteure. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 37, Technical University Darmstadt.
- Pradère, F.; Puybaraud, M.; Mejevitch, V.; Surkova, M. (2022): Hybrid Work Decoded. JLL Global Benchmarking Services and Research. URL: https://www.jll.co.uk/content/dam/jll-com/documents/pdf/research/global/jll-how-can-offices-find-new-relevance-in-todays-hybrid-world-of-work.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Preston, C. C.; Colman, A. (2000): Optimal number of response categories in rating scales: Reliability, validity, discriminating power, and respondent preferences. Acta Psychologica, 104, 1–15.
- Rammstedt, B.; Kemper, C. J.; Klein, M. C.; Beierlein, C.; Kovaleva, A. (2014): Big Five Inventory (BFI-10). Zusammenstellung sozialwissenschaftlicher Items und Skalen (ZIS). https://doi.org/10.6102/zis76.
- Rauch, R.; Xhaferi, S.; Roland, R.M.; Möcker, D.R.; Ziemlich, J.; Mayer, L. (2021): Home bleibt Office. URL: https://www.pwc.de/de/real-estate/real-estate-institute/pwchome-bleibt-office.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Reijseger, G.; Schaufeli, W. B.; Peeters, M. C. W.; Taris, T. W.; van Beek, I.; Ouweneel, E. (2013): Watching the paint dry at work: Psychometric examination of the Dutch Boredom Scale. Anxiety, Stress & Coping, 26(5), 508-525.
- Sherehiy, B.;, Karwowski, W. (2014): The relationship between work organization and workforce agility in small manufacturing enterprises. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 44(3), 466–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ergon.2014.01.002
- Smith, C. (2022): The Future of Work: Productive anywhere. URL: https://www.accenture.com/content/dam/accenture/final/capabilities/strategy-and-consulting/talentand-organization/document/Accenture-Work-In-Progress-How-The-Future-Of-Work-Depends-On-Us.pdf#zoom=40 (accessed 20 March 2023).
- **SoSciSurvey (2022):** Der online Fragebogen. URL: https://www.soscisurvey.de/ (accessed 10 January 2023).

- Stürz, R. A.; Stumpf, C.; Schlude, A.; Putfarken, H. (2021): Digitalisierung durch Corona? Homeoffice im Mai 2021. URL: https://www.bidt.digital/publikation/digitalisierungdurch-corona-homeoffice-im-mai-2021/ (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Taapken, N. (2021): Arbeitswelt im Umbruch oder nach der Pandemie zurück in die Zukunft? URL: https://www.ey.com/de_de/forms/download-forms/2021/10/studie-arbeitswelt-der-zukunft (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Voll, K.; Gauger, F.; Pfnür, A. (2022): Work from anywhere: traditional workation, coworkation and workation retreats: a conceptual review, World Leisure Journal. https://doi.org/10.1080/16078055.2022.2134199.
- Wagner, B.; Gauger, F.; Pfnür, A. (2021): Flexible Office Space als immobilienwirtschaftliche Innovation–Eine konzeptionelle und empirische Analyse. Betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung und Praxis, 73(6), 671–706.
- Wieland, R.; Groenewald, S. (2021): Gestaltung der Arbeit im Homeoffice als hybrides Arbeitsortmodell. In: Badura, B., Ducki, A., Schröder, H., Meyer, M. (Eds.) Fehlzeiten-Report 2021. Fehlzeiten-Report, vol 2021. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-63722-7_18.
- Wirth, C. (2022): Homeoffice-Beschäftigte allein zu Haus? Ergebnisse einer Studie zur Praxis von Betriebsräten bei Homeoffice-Arbeit. Mitbestimmungspraxis No. 48.
- Wolfsberger, J.; Keller, B.; Korunka, C.; Kubicek, B. (2022): Arbeit im Wandel: Hybrid Work, Workation und das Büro der Zukunft Flexible Working Studie 2022. URL: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/at/Documents/human-capital/flexible-working-studie-2022.pdf (accessed 20 March 2023).
- Yalabik, Z. Y., Popaitoon, P.; Chowne, J. A.; Rayton, B. A. (2013): Work engagement as a mediator between employee attitudes and outcomes. The International Journal of Human Resource Management 24(14), 2799–2823.

Previously published in this series

- Alexander Herrmann (2005): Analyse der Anfangsrenditen in Frankfurt, Paris, London & New York. Ein Beitrag zur Vergleichbarkeit von Immobilienrenditen. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 1.
- Alexander Bräscher (2005): Real Estate Private Equity (REPE) im Spannungsfeld von Entwickler, Kreditinstitut und Private-Equity-Gesellschaft. Ergebnisbericht zur empirischen Untersuchung. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 2.
- Nadine Hainbuch (2006): Status Quo und Perspektiven immobilienwirtschaftlicher PPPs. PPP im öffentlichen Hochbau in Deutschland aus Sicht des privaten Investors. Ergebnisse einer empirischen Analyse. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 3.
- Arbeitskreis PPP im Management öffentlicher Immobilien im BPPP e.V. (2006): Risiken imobilienwirtschaftlicher PPPs aus Sicht der beteiligten Akteure. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 4.
- Sebastian Kühlmann (2006): Systematik und Abgrenzung von PPP-Modellen und Begriffen. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 5.
- **Dirk Krupper (2006):** Target Costing für die Projektentwicklung von Immobilien als Instrument im Building Performance Evaluation Framework. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 6.
- Moritz Lohse (2006): Die wirtschaftliche Situation deutscher Wohnungsunternehmen eine empirische Untersuchung. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 7.
- Andreas Pfnür, Patricia Egres, Klaus Hirt (2007): Ganzheitliche Wirtschaftlichkeitsanalyse bei PPP Projekten dargestellt am Beispiel des Schulprojekts im Kreis Offenbach. Ergebnisbericht zur empirischen Untersuchung. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 8.
- Arbeitskreis PPP im Management öffentlicher Immobilien im BPPP e.V. (2007): Optimierung von Wirtschaftlichkeitsuntersuchungen in immobilienwirtschaftlichen PPPs. Ein Thesenpapier. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 9.
- Steffen Hartmann, Moritz Lohse, Andreas Pfnür (2007): 15 Jahre Corporate Real Estate Management in Deutschland: Entwicklungsstand und Perspektiven der Bündelung

immobilienwirtschaftlicher Aufgaben bei ausgewählten Unternehmen. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 10.

- Henning Schöbener, Christoph Schetter, Andreas Pfnür (2007): Reliability of Public Private Partnership Projects under Assumptions of Cash Flow Volatility. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 11.
- Moritz Lohse, Andreas Pfnür (2008): EWOWI zwanzig zehn Erfolgspotenziale der Wohnungswirtschaft 2010. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 12.
- Arbeitskreis PPP im Management öffentlicher Immobilien im BPPP e.V. (2009): Optimierung von Transaktionskosten öffentlicher Immobilieninvestitionen. Ein Thesenpapier. In:

Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 13.

Annette Kämpf-Dern, Andreas Pfnür (2009): Grundkonzept des Immobilienmanagements. Ein Vorschlag zur Strukturierung immobilienwirtschaftlicher Managementaufgaben. In:

Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 14.

- Annette Kämpf-Dern (2009): Immobilienwirtschaftliche Managementebenen und -aufgaben. Definitions- und Leistungskatalog des Immobilienmanagements. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 15.
- Sonja Weiland, Andreas Pfnür (2009): Empirische Untersuchung der Nutzenwirkungen von PPP Projekten auf den Schulbetrieb am Beispiel der Schulen im Kreis Offenbach. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 16.
- Sigrun Wonneberger (2009): Die Auswahl von Propertymanagement Dienstleistern Ergebnisbericht zur empirischen Untersuchung. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 17.
- Andreas Pfnür, Nikolas Müller, Sonja Weiland (2009): Wirtschaftlichkeitsberechnungen von Klimaschutzinvestitionen in der Wohnungswirtschaft – Clusteranalyse und 25 Szenariofälle. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 18.
- Andreas Pfnür, Wulf Reclam, Fabian Heyden, Friedemann Kuppler, Julian Thiel (2010): Status quo der Kernkompetenzen und Outsourcing-Aktivitäten in der deutschen

Wohnungswirtschaft. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 19.

- Michael G. Müller (2010): Komparative Untersuchung der EU-REIT-Regime. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 20.
- Andreas Pfnür, Sonja Weiland (2010): CREM 2010: Welche Rolle spielt der Nutzer? In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 21.
- Stephanie Heitel (2010): Stadtrendite durch Wohnungsunternehmen Analyse der Komponenten und Quantifizierungsmethoden. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 22.
- Arbeitskreis PPP im Management öffentlicher Immobilien im BPPP e.V. (2010): Arbeitspapier und Handlungsempfehlungen – Qualität als kritischer Erfolgsfaktor der Wirtschaftlichkeit von Immobilien. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 23.
- Stephanie Heitel, Moritz Lohse, Michael Zahn, Andreas Pfnür, Manuela Damianakis (2011): Wohnungswirtschaft im Wandel: Möglichkeiten und Grenzen öffentlicher Finanzierung in der Wohnraumversorgung. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 24.
- **Dirk Krupper (2011):** Immobilienproduktivität: Der Einfluss von Büroimmobilien auf Nutzerzufriedenheit und Produktivität. Eine empirische Studie am Beispiel ausgewählter Bürogebäude der TU Darmstadt. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 25.
- Damir Janßen-Tapken (2011): Einsatz und Nutzen von ERP-Systemen im CREM Eine empirische Studie am Beispiel des SAP ERP-Systems. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 26.
- Stephanie Heitel, Annette Kämpf-Dern, Andreas Pfnür (2012): Nachhaltiges Management von Stakeholderbeziehungen kommunaler Wohnungsunternehmen. Eine empirische Untersuchung am Beispiel der bauverein AG Darmstadt. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 27.
- Andreas Pfnür, Nikolas Müller (2013): Energetische Gebäudesanierung in Deutschland, Studie Teil II: Prognose der Kosten alternativer Sanierungsfahrpläne und Analyse der finanziellen Belastungen für Eigentümer und Mieter bis 2050. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 28.

- Sigrun Lüttringhaus (2014): Outsourcing des Propertymanagements als Professional Service. Zusammenfassung der Ergebnisse der empirischen Untersuchung. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 29.
- Kevin Meyer, Andreas Pfnür (2015): Kognitive verzerrte Entscheidungen als Ursache für Ineffizienzen in der Immobilienprojektentwicklung. Managementorientierte Fassung der Ergebnisse einer empirischen Studie. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 30.
- **Tobias Just, Andreas Pfnür, Christian Braun (2016):** Aurelis-Praxisstudie: Wie Corporates die Märkte und das Management für produktionsnahe Immobilien einschätzen. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 31.
- Nikolas D. Müller, Andreas Pfnür (2016): Wirtschaftlichkeitsberechnungen bei verschärften energetischen Standards für Wohnungsneubauten aus den Perspektiven von Eigentümern und Mietern – Methodisches Vorgehen und Fallbeispiel. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 32.
- Andreas Pfnür, Bernadetta Winiewska, Bettina Mailach, Bert Oschatz (2016): Dezentrale vs. zentrale Wärmeversorgung im deutschen Wärmemarkt – Vergleichende Studie aus energetischer und ökonomischer Sicht. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 33.
- Nikolas D. Müller, Andreas Pfnür (2017): Konzeptionelle Ansätze zur Umsetzung der Energiewende im Gebäudesektor – Systematisierung und Diskussion alternativer Steuerungsindikatoren für die Energie- und Klimapolitik im Gebäudesektor. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 34.
- Andreas Pfnür, Julian Seger (2017): Produktionsnahe Immobilien. Herausforderungen und Entwicklungsperspektiven aus Sicht von Corporates, Investoren und Dienstleistern. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 35.
- Wenke Bengtsson, Andreas Pfnür (2018): Unrealistic optimism in the financing of large infrastructure projects in Europe - Results of a survey among private investors, public investors, and lenders. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 36.
- Andreas Pfnür, Benjamin Wagner (2018): Transformation der Immobilienwirtschaft Eine empirische Studie deutscher immobilienwirtschaftlicher Akteure. In: Andreas Pfnür

(Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 37.

- Anne Dörr, Andreas Pfnür (2019): Auswahlprozess für eine Abwicklungsform bei Neubauten durch Non-Property Companies - Eine empirische Studie zu den Entscheidungskriterien und deren Gewichtung bei deutschen Unternehmen In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 38.
- Felix Gauger, Andreas Pfnür, Jan Skarabi (2020): Arbeitswelten im Wandel: Coworking Spaces - Eine empirische Befragung der Eigenschaften und Nutzerpräferenzen von Coworking Spaces In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 39.
- Andreas Pfnür (2020): ZIA-CREM-Studie 2020 Die Rolle der öffentlichen Hand in der immobilienwirtschaftlichen Transformation deutscher Unternehmen. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 40.
- Andreas Pfnür, Felix Gauger, Yassien Bachtal und Benjamin Wagner (2021): Homeoffice im Interessenkonflikt. Ergebnisbericht einer empirischen Studie. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 41.
- Yassien Bachtal (2021): Work organization and work psychology theories and models in the context of Work from Home – A literature-based overview. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 42.
- Benjamin Wagner (2021): Strukturelle Veränderungen und Unternehmensanpassungen in der strategischen Managementforschung – Eine literaturbasierte Herleitung eines forschungsleitenden Begriffsverständnisses der immobilienwirtschaftlichen Transformation. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 43, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Klarissa Klotschke, Benjamin Wagner, Andreas Pfnür (2022): Potentials and challenges of agile project management in real estate development. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 44, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Andreas Pfnür, Yassien Bachtal, Kyra Voll und Felix Gauger (2022): Ökologische Nachhaltigkeit als Treiber der Transformation des Wohnens in Deutschland – Empirische Studie bei privaten Haushalten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 45, Technische Universität Darmstadt.

- Andreas Pfnür, Kyra Voll, Yassien Bachtal und Fabian Lachenmayer (2023): So wohnen wir in Zukunft: Wie die Digitalisierung das Wohnen verändert – Empirische Studie bei privaten Haushalten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 46, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Andreas Pfnür, Martin Christian Höcker (2023): Bürogebäude im Interessenkonflikt der Beschäftigten – Ergebnisse einer empirischen Befragung deutscher Büroarbeitenden. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 47, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Andreas Pfnür, Jonas Rau (2023): Transformation deutscher Innenstädte aus Sicht der Eigentümer. Eine systematische Literaturanalyse. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 48, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Andreas Pfnür, Fabian Lachenmayer, Yassien Bachtal und Kyra Voll (2023): So wohnen wir in Zukunft: Wie der soziodemografische Wandel das Wohnen verändert – Empirische Studie bei privaten Haushalten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 49, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Andreas Pfnür, Kyra Voll, Martin Christian Höcker und Yassien Bachtal (2023): Von der Pandemienotlösung zum Konzept multilokaler Arbeit – Empirische Studie zu den Erfahrungen der Beschäftigten für eine Zukunft an verteilten Arbeitsorten. In: Andreas Pfnür (Hrsg.), Arbeitspapiere zur immobilienwirtschaftlichen Forschung und Praxis, Band Nr. 50, Technische Universität Darmstadt.
- Andreas Pfnür, Kyra Voll, Martin Christian Höcker and Yassien Bachtal (2023): Work from Home: From pandemic necessity to the concept of multi-locational work – an empirical study of employees' experiences for the future of distributed workplace environments. In: Andreas Pfnür (Ed.), Working Papers on Real Estate Research and Practice, Vol. No. 50, Technical University Darmstadt.